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Eleven-Year Summary
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
Years ended March 31, 2007 to 2017

(Million yen)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

For the Year
Net sales ¥ 320,825 ¥ 336,184 ¥267,284 ¥241,811 ¥202,337 ¥198,052 ¥159,263 ¥154,208 ¥242,182 ¥231,619 ¥232,703
Cost of sales 256,417 272,832 215,641 194,974 165,340 165,505 131,639 128,195 195,430 182,260 186,991
Gross profit 64,407 63,351 51,642 46,836 36,996 32,546 27,623 26,012 46,752 49,358 45,712
Selling, general and administrative expenses 41,308 42,472 36,759 34,279 28,986 28,328 25,897 25,932 31,736 28,680 26,876
Operating income 23,099 20,878 14,883 12,556 8,010 4,217 1,726 80 15,015 20,677 18,837
Income before income taxes 23,942 20,650 15,211 12,137 7,316 3,129 703 862 13,956 20,592 18,356
Net income attributable to shareholders of the parent company 16,746 13,652 9,810 7,740 4,439 1,223 269 1,018 7,851 11,893 11,382
Capital investment 5,905 4,210 7,532 10,446 7,687 2,393 3,221 2,280 4,613 4,071 8,281
Depreciation 4,202 4,587 4,157 3,821 3,332 3,612 3,577 3,679 3,930 3,401 2,886
R&D expenditures 7,489 7,009 6,945 7,490 6,855 6,484 6,370 6,075 8,018 6,964 7,564

Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities ¥   26,683 ¥     7,206 ¥    6,295 ¥  20,447 ¥  15,666 ¥  (5,187) ¥  11,417 ¥  20,921 ¥   (8,425) ¥  21,234 ¥       864
Cash flows from investing activities (5,393) (2,099) (5,846) (7,372) (13,649) (4,039) (3,616) (7,303) (6,900) (6,340) (10,257)
Free cash flows 21,289 5,107 448 13,074 2,016 (9,227) 7,801 13,617 (15,325) 14,894 (9,392)
Cash flows from financing activities (4,404) (8,702) (509) 1,045 88 7,709 (6,056) (11,321) 16,189 (3,531) (2,328)

At Year-End
Total assets ¥ 303,540 ¥ 296,055 ¥271,011 ¥249,531 ¥206,875 ¥185,049 ¥163,388 ¥165,430 ¥194,727 ¥222,386 ¥195,016
Working capital 96,401 99,293 91,187 87,070 45,832 61,943 65,908 66,265 75,087 64,840 60,351
Interest-bearing liabilities 39,770 40,904 60,547 58,144 53,385 51,010 40,912 45,295 55,417 33,559 33,764
Net assets 142,340 130,116 111,521 99,690 85,685 76,618 77,714 81,295 82,810 88,709 80,718
Shareholders’ equity 136,694 123,669 98,469 90,652 84,486 82,013 82,454 83,852 85,727 83,355 74,389
Number of employees 8,689 7,835 7,746 7,349 6,678 5,617 5,209 5,395 5,660 5,663 4,702

Amounts per Share of Common Stock
Net income per share (Yen) ¥   137.58 ¥   118.72 ¥    88.59 ¥    69.96 ¥    40.12 ¥    11.05 ¥      2.43 ¥      9.20 ¥    70.29 ¥  105.05 ¥  100.50
Net assets per share (Yen) 1,142.14 1,044.40 972.75 875.14 754.98 674.72 683.39 716.07 718.68 746.59 682.01
Cash dividends per share (Yen) 42.00 30.00 22.00 18.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 20.00 26.00 26.00 25.00

Ratios
Operating income/net sales 7.2% 6.2% 5.6% 5.2% 4.0% 2.1% 1.1% 0.1% 6.2% 8.9% 8.1%
Income before income taxes/net sales 7.5 6.1 5.7 5.0 3.6 1.6 0.4 0.6 5.8 8.9 7.9
Net income/net sales 5.2 4.1 3.7 3.2 2.2 0.6 0.2 0.7 3.2 5.1 4.9
Return on shareholders’ equity (ROE) 12.6 11.6 9.6 8.6 5.6 1.6 0.3 1.3 9.6 14.7 15.6
Total assets turnover (Times) 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.0 0.9 1.2 1.0 1.2
Shareholders’ equity/total assets 45.8 42.9 39.8 38.8 40.4 40.3 46.3 47.9 40.9 38.0 39.6
D/E ratio 0.29 0.32 0.56 0.60 0.64 0.68 0.54 0.57 0.70 0.40 0.44

Notes: �1. The amount of “Capital investment” in the years ended March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 includes goodwill generated from acquisition of shares in overseas companies. 
2. In the calculation of net assets per share, the amount of non-controlling interests is subtracted from the amount of net assets in accordance with the above guidelines. 
3. In the calculation of shareholders’ equity/total assets ratio and ROE, shareholders’ equity represents the amount of net assets less non-controlling interests. 
4. D/E ratio = Interest-bearing liabilities/(Net assets – Non-controlling interests – Bonds with stock acquisition rights)
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(Million yen)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

For the Year
Net sales ¥ 320,825 ¥ 336,184 ¥267,284 ¥241,811 ¥202,337 ¥198,052 ¥159,263 ¥154,208 ¥242,182 ¥231,619 ¥232,703
Cost of sales 256,417 272,832 215,641 194,974 165,340 165,505 131,639 128,195 195,430 182,260 186,991
Gross profit 64,407 63,351 51,642 46,836 36,996 32,546 27,623 26,012 46,752 49,358 45,712
Selling, general and administrative expenses 41,308 42,472 36,759 34,279 28,986 28,328 25,897 25,932 31,736 28,680 26,876
Operating income 23,099 20,878 14,883 12,556 8,010 4,217 1,726 80 15,015 20,677 18,837
Income before income taxes 23,942 20,650 15,211 12,137 7,316 3,129 703 862 13,956 20,592 18,356
Net income attributable to shareholders of the parent company 16,746 13,652 9,810 7,740 4,439 1,223 269 1,018 7,851 11,893 11,382
Capital investment 5,905 4,210 7,532 10,446 7,687 2,393 3,221 2,280 4,613 4,071 8,281
Depreciation 4,202 4,587 4,157 3,821 3,332 3,612 3,577 3,679 3,930 3,401 2,886
R&D expenditures 7,489 7,009 6,945 7,490 6,855 6,484 6,370 6,075 8,018 6,964 7,564

Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities ¥   26,683 ¥     7,206 ¥    6,295 ¥  20,447 ¥  15,666 ¥  (5,187) ¥  11,417 ¥  20,921 ¥   (8,425) ¥  21,234 ¥       864
Cash flows from investing activities (5,393) (2,099) (5,846) (7,372) (13,649) (4,039) (3,616) (7,303) (6,900) (6,340) (10,257)
Free cash flows 21,289 5,107 448 13,074 2,016 (9,227) 7,801 13,617 (15,325) 14,894 (9,392)
Cash flows from financing activities (4,404) (8,702) (509) 1,045 88 7,709 (6,056) (11,321) 16,189 (3,531) (2,328)

At Year-End
Total assets ¥ 303,540 ¥ 296,055 ¥271,011 ¥249,531 ¥206,875 ¥185,049 ¥163,388 ¥165,430 ¥194,727 ¥222,386 ¥195,016
Working capital 96,401 99,293 91,187 87,070 45,832 61,943 65,908 66,265 75,087 64,840 60,351
Interest-bearing liabilities 39,770 40,904 60,547 58,144 53,385 51,010 40,912 45,295 55,417 33,559 33,764
Net assets 142,340 130,116 111,521 99,690 85,685 76,618 77,714 81,295 82,810 88,709 80,718
Shareholders’ equity 136,694 123,669 98,469 90,652 84,486 82,013 82,454 83,852 85,727 83,355 74,389
Number of employees 8,689 7,835 7,746 7,349 6,678 5,617 5,209 5,395 5,660 5,663 4,702

Amounts per Share of Common Stock
Net income per share (Yen) ¥   137.58 ¥   118.72 ¥    88.59 ¥    69.96 ¥    40.12 ¥    11.05 ¥      2.43 ¥      9.20 ¥    70.29 ¥  105.05 ¥  100.50
Net assets per share (Yen) 1,142.14 1,044.40 972.75 875.14 754.98 674.72 683.39 716.07 718.68 746.59 682.01
Cash dividends per share (Yen) 42.00 30.00 22.00 18.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 20.00 26.00 26.00 25.00

Ratios
Operating income/net sales 7.2% 6.2% 5.6% 5.2% 4.0% 2.1% 1.1% 0.1% 6.2% 8.9% 8.1%
Income before income taxes/net sales 7.5 6.1 5.7 5.0 3.6 1.6 0.4 0.6 5.8 8.9 7.9
Net income/net sales 5.2 4.1 3.7 3.2 2.2 0.6 0.2 0.7 3.2 5.1 4.9
Return on shareholders’ equity (ROE) 12.6 11.6 9.6 8.6 5.6 1.6 0.3 1.3 9.6 14.7 15.6
Total assets turnover (Times) 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.0 0.9 1.2 1.0 1.2
Shareholders’ equity/total assets 45.8 42.9 39.8 38.8 40.4 40.3 46.3 47.9 40.9 38.0 39.6
D/E ratio 0.29 0.32 0.56 0.60 0.64 0.68 0.54 0.57 0.70 0.40 0.44

Notes: �1. The amount of “Capital investment” in the years ended March 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 includes goodwill generated from acquisition of shares in overseas companies. 
2. In the calculation of net assets per share, the amount of non-controlling interests is subtracted from the amount of net assets in accordance with the above guidelines. 
3. In the calculation of shareholders’ equity/total assets ratio and ROE, shareholders’ equity represents the amount of net assets less non-controlling interests. 
4. D/E ratio = Interest-bearing liabilities/(Net assets – Non-controlling interests – Bonds with stock acquisition rights)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
March 31, 2017 and 2016

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand

dollars) (Note 6)

March 31 March 31

ASSETS 2017 2016 2017

Current assets:
  Cash on hand and in banks (Notes 9 and 28) ¥  64,802 ¥  49,187 $   577,559 
 � Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables (Notes 4 and 9) 124,005 131,298 1,105,222 
  Merchandise and finished goods 4,910 3,629 43,765 
 � Costs incurred on uncompleted construction contracts and other (Note 8) 8,860 7,092 78,968 
  Raw materials and supplies 9,086 11,370 80,985 
  Deferred tax assets (Notes 5 and 27) 3,429 4,501 30,563 
  Other current assets 7,489 7,390 66,754 
  Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (116) (146) (1,034)
    Total current assets 222,468 214,324 1,982,784 

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 7 and 13):
  Buildings and structures, net 13,344 13,954 118,937 
  Machinery and vehicles, net 4,040 3,336 36,008 
  Tools and fixtures, net 1,455 1,487 12,969 
  Land 12,041 11,881 107,323 
  Other, net 2,704 2,221 24,102 
    Total property, plant and equipment 33,586 32,881 299,341 

Intangible assets:
  Software 3,244 3,152 28,913 
  Goodwill 9,882 11,181 88,078 
  Other 2,304 2,739 20,537 
    Total intangible assets 15,430 17,072 137,530 

Investments and other assets:
  Investments in securities (Notes 9, 10, and 11) 21,260 19,571 189,490 
  Long-term loans 147 135 1,315 
  Assets for retirement benefits (Note 14) 2,628 1,600 23,423 
  Deferred tax assets (Notes 5 and 27) 4,865 6,642 43,360 
  Other 3,285 3,952 29,285 
  Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (132) (125) (1,182)
    Total investments and other assets 32,054 31,776 285,692 

    Total non-current assets 81,071 81,731 722,563 

    Total assets ¥303,540 ¥296,055 $2,705,348 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand

dollars) (Note 6)

March 31 March 31

LIABILITIES 2017 2016 2017

Current liabilities:
 � Notes and accounts payable and construction contracts payable (Note 9) ¥  40,311  ¥  40,696 $   359,279 
  Electronically recorded obligations-operating (Note 9) 18,806 17,270 167,617 
 � Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings 

  (Notes 9 and 12) 21,647 8,702 192,939 
  Income taxes payable 1,239 5,919 11,043 
  Advances received on uncompleted construction contracts and other (Note 4) 26,313 22,637 234,522 
  Provision for losses on construction contracts (Notes 8 and 20) 863 971 7,696 
  Other current liabilities (Note 12) 16,885 18,833 150,493 
    Total current liabilities 126,067 115,031 1,123,592 

Non-current liabilities:
  Bonds (Notes 9 and 12) 2,700 2,700 24,064 
  Long-term borrowings (Notes 9 and 12) 15,422 29,501 137,459 
  Deferred tax liabilities (Notes 5 and 27) 619 1,048 5,521 
  Liabilities for retirement benefits (Note 14) 13,486 14,500 120,201 
  Negative goodwill 59 119 534 
  Other non-current liabilities (Note 12) 2,843 3,037 25,340 
    Total non-current liabilities 35,132 50,907 313,121 
    Total liabilities 161,199 165,938 1,436,713 

Contingent liabilities (Note 16)

NET ASSETS
Shareholders’ equity (Notes 5 and 18):
  Common stock:

    Authorized—250,000,000 shares

    Issued—123,610,077 shares 15,016 15,016 133,833 
  Capital surplus 15,915 15,794 141,845 
  Retained earnings 107,349 94,501 956,770 
  Less: treasury stock, at cost—March 31, 2017—1,827,904 shares (1,586) (1,642) (14,137)
  March 31, 2016—1,958,836 shares

    Total shareholders’ equity 136,694 123,669 1,218,312 

Accumulated other comprehensive income:
  Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities 4,290 3,206 38,241 
  Deferred gain (loss) on hedges (5) 22 (49)
  Foreign currency translation adjustments 5,102 7,730 45,475 
  Accumulated adjustments on retirement benefits (Note 14) (6,989) (7,576) (62,293)
    Total accumulated other comprehensive income 2,398 3,383 21,374 

Non-controlling interests
  Non-controlling interests 3,247 3,063 28,947 

  Total net assets 142,340 130,116 1,268,634 

  Total liabilities and net assets ¥303,540 ¥296,055 $2,705,348 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand

dollars) (Note 6)
March 31 March 31

2017 2016 2017

Net sales ¥320,825 ¥336,184 $2,859,407
Cost of sales (Notes 20 and 21) 256,417 272,832 2,285,362 
    Gross profit 64,407 63,351 574,044 
Selling expenses (Note 19) 16,652 18,812 148,420 
General and administrative expenses (Notes 19 and 21) 24,655 23,660 219,746 
Total selling, general and administrative expenses 41,308 42,472 368,166 
    Operating income 23,099 20,878 205,878 
Other income:
  Interest income 158 189 1,409 
  Dividend income 376 363 3,357 
  Foreign exchange gain — 101 —
  Amortization of negative goodwill 59 59 534 
  Equity in earnings of affiliates 567 503 5,059 
  Land and house rental revenue 234 227 2,091 
  Miscellaneous income 270 329 2,406 
  Total other income 1,667 1,775 14,859 
Other expenses:
  Interest expenses 415 498 3,703 
  Foreign exchange loss 456 — 4,068 
  Miscellaneous expenses 134 159 1,194 
  Total other expenses 1,006 658 8,966 
    Ordinary income 23,760 21,995 211,770 

Extraordinary income:
  Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment (Note 23) 494 168 4,411 
  Gain on sales of investments in securities — 374 —
  Other 37 0 333 
  Total extraordinary income 532 542 4,744 
Extraordinary loss:
  Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment (Note 24) 28 76 249 
  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 22) 94 590 845 
  Impairment loss (Note 26) — 540 —
  Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates 198 — 1,769 
  Special retirement benefits — 113 —
  Environmental expenditures — 528 —
  Other 29 39 259 
  Total extraordinary loss 350 1,888 3,124 
    Income before income taxes 23,942 20,650 213,391 
Income taxes (Note 27)
  Current 5,447 8,094 48,549 
  Deferred 1,459 (1,380) 13,008 
  Total income taxes 6,906 6,713 61,557 
    Net income 17,035 13,936 151,833 
    (Net income attributable to:)
    Shareholders of the parent company 16,746 13,652 149,258 
    Non-controlling interests 288 283 2,575 
Other comprehensive income (Note 25)
  Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities 1,096 (1,487) 9,774 
  Deferred gain (loss) on hedges (42) 85 (378)
  Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,290) (2,710) (20,410)
  Retirement benefits reserves adjustment 641 (1,886) 5,714 
 � Share of other comprehensive loss of affiliates accounted for  

  using the equity method (394) (157) (3,518)
  Total other comprehensive income (989) (6,155) (8,819)
Comprehensive income (Note 25) ¥  16,046 ¥    7,780 $   143,014 
  (Comprehensive income attributable to:)
  Shareholders of the parent company ¥  15,761 ¥    7,708 $   140,475 
  Non-controlling interests 284 72 2,538 

(Yen) (U.S. dollars)

Net income per share (Note 32) ¥137.58 ¥118.72 $1.22
Cash dividends per share 42.00 30.00 0.37

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016

Shareholders’ equity

Number of
 shares of 

common stock
Common 

stock
Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock,

at cost

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

(Thousands) (Million yen)

Balance at March 31, 2015 113,671 ¥  8,024 ¥  9,239 ¥  83,626 ¥(2,419) ¥  98,469

 � Conversion of the convertible bonds with  
  stock acquisition rights 9,938 6,992 7,455 — 621 15,069

  Cash dividends — — — (2,777) — (2,777)

 � Net income attributable to shareholders  
  of the parent company — — — 13,652 — 13,652 

  Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (6) (6)

  Disposal of treasury stock — — 0 — 161 161

 � Change in treasury shares of parent arising from  
  transactions with non-controlling shareholders — — (900) — — (900)

 � Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity — — — — — —

Balance at March 31, 2016 123,610 ¥15,016 ¥15,794 ¥  94,501 ¥(1,642) ¥123,669

 � Conversion of the convertible bonds with  
  stock acquisition rights — — — — — —

  Cash dividends — — — (3,898) — (3,898)

 � Net income attributable to shareholders  
  of the parent company — — — 16,746 — 16,746 

  Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (185) (185)

  Disposal of treasury stock — — 107 — 242 350 

 � Change in treasury shares of parent arising from  
  transactions with non-controlling shareholders — — 12 — — 12 

 � Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity — — — — — —

Balance at March 31, 2017 123,610 ¥15,016 ¥15,915 ¥107,349 ¥(1,586) ¥136,694 

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Net 
unrealized 

gain (loss) on 
securities

Deferred 
gain (loss) 
on hedges

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Accumulated 
adjustments 

on retirement 
benefits

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total net 

assets

(Million yen)

Balance at March 31, 2015 ¥4,639 ¥(72) ¥10,542 ¥(5,781) ¥9,327 ¥3,723 ¥111,521

 � Conversion of the convertible bonds with  
  stock acquisition rights — — — — — — 15,069 

  Cash dividends — — — — — — (2,777)

 � Net income attributable to shareholders  
  of the parent company — — — — — — 13,652

  Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — — (6)

  Disposal of treasury stock — — — — — — 161 

 � Change in treasury shares of parent arising from  
  transactions with non-controlling shareholders — — — — — — (900)

 � Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity (1,432) 94 (2,811) (1,794) (5,944) (660) (6,604)

Balance at March 31, 2016 ¥3,206 ¥ 22 ¥  7,730 ¥(7,576) ¥3,383 ¥3,063 ¥130,116 

 � Conversion of the convertible bonds with  
  stock acquisition rights — — — — — — —

  Cash dividends — — — — — — (3,898)

 � Net income attributable to shareholders  
  of the parent company — — — — — — 16,746 

  Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — — (185)

  Disposal of treasury stock — — — — — — 350 

 � Change in treasury shares of parent arising from  
  transactions with non-controlling shareholders — — — — — — 12 

 � Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 1,083 (28) (2,628) 587 (985) 184 (801)

Balance at March 31, 2017 ¥4,290 ¥  (5) ¥  5,102 ¥(6,989) ¥2,398 ¥3,247 ¥142,340 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets (Continued)
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016

Shareholders’ equity

Number of
shares of 

common stock
Common 

stock
Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock,

at cost

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

(Thousands) (U.S. thousand dollars) (Note 6)

Balance at March 31, 2016 123,610 $133,833 $140,770 $842,255 $(14,638) $1,102,220 

 � Conversion of the convertible bonds with  
  stock acquisition rights — — — — — —

  Cash dividends — — — (34,743) — (34,743)

 � Net income attributable to shareholders  
  of the parent company — — — 149,258 — 149,258 

  Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (1,657) (1,657)

  Disposal of treasury stock — — 961 — 2,158 3,120 

 � Change in treasury shares of parent arising from  
  transactions with non-controlling shareholders — — 113 — — 113 

 � Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity — — — — — —

Balance at March 31, 2017 123,610 $133,833 $141,845 $956,770 $(14,137) $1,218,312 

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Net 
unrealized 

gain (loss) on 
securities

Deferred 
gain (loss) 
on hedges

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Accumulated 
adjustments 

on retirement 
benefits

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total net 

assets

(U.S. thousand dollars) (Note 6)

Balance at March 31, 2016 $28,581 $200 $68,900 $(67,525) $30,157 $27,306 $1,159,684 

 � Conversion of the convertible bonds with  
  stock acquisition rights — — — — — — —

  Cash dividends — — — — — — (34,743)

 � Net income attributable to shareholders  
  of the parent company — — — — — — 149,258 

  Purchase of treasury stock — — — — — — (1,657)

  Disposal of treasury stock — — — — — — 3,120 

 � Change in treasury shares of parent arising from  
  transactions with non-controlling shareholders — — — — — — 113 

 � Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 9,659 (250) (23,425) 5,232 (8,782) 1,640 (7,142)

Balance at March 31, 2017 $38,241 $ (49) $45,475 $(62,293) $21,374 $28,947 $1,268,634 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand

dollars) (Note 6)

March 31 March 31

2017 2016 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
  Income before income taxes ¥23,942 ¥20,650 $213,391 
  Adjustments for:

    Depreciation 4,202 4,587 37,451 
    Impairment loss — 540 —
    Amortization of goodwill 924 1,038 8,237 
    Amortization of negative goodwill (59) (59) (534)
    Interest and dividend income (534) (552) (4,767)
    Interest expenses 415 498 3,703 
    Loss (gain) on disposal or sales of property, plant and equipment (371) 497 (3,315)
    Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable (Note 4) 3,984 (37,713) 35,516 
    Decrease (increase) in inventories (1,147) 2,189 (10,230)
    Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable 2,855 11,964 25,451 
    Increase (decrease) in advances received on uncompleted construction 4,038 349 35,994 
    Other, net (473) 6,043 (4,223)
      Subtotal 37,775 10,035 336,675 
    Interest and dividend received 532 554 4,747 
    Interest paid (411) (501) (3,671)
    Income taxes paid (11,373) (3,032) (101,371)
    Other, net 161 150 1,440 
      Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 26,683 7,206 237,820 

Cash flows from investing activities:
    Investments in time deposits (3) (96) (27)
    Proceeds from refund of time deposits 86 107 773 
    Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment (6,399) (3,158) (57,035)
    Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 1,121 280 9,998 
    Payments for purchase of investments in securities (24) (22) (216)
    Collection of loans receivable 5 4 49 
    Other, net (180) 785 (1,612)
      Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (5,393) (2,099) (48,070)

Cash flows from financing activities:
  �  Payments from changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  

  that do not result in change in scope of consolidation (35) (1,556) (320)
    Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings, net 67 (1,156) 597 
    Proceeds from long-term borrowings 928 1,841 8,272 
    Repayment of long-term borrowings (1,363) (4,917) (12,151)
    Proceeds from disposal of treasury stock 169 161 1,511 
    Payments for purchase of treasury stock (5) (6) (48)
    Payments of cash dividends (3,896) (2,794) (34,724)
    Other, net (268) (274) (2,392)
      Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (4,404) (8,702) (39,255)

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents (1,179) (1,401) (10,509)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,706 (4,996) 139,984 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 49,084 54,081 437,471 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 28) ¥64,790 ¥49,084 $577,455 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Daifuku Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016

1. Basis of presenting consolidated financial statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared based on the accounts maintained by Daifuku Co., Ltd. 

(hereinafter “the Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries.

  The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have maintained 

their accounts and records in accordance with the provisions set 

forth in Japan’s Companies Act and in conformity with generally 

accepted accounting principles prevailing in Japan, which are 

different in certain respects as to application and disclosure 

requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, and 

are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared 

by the Company as required by the Financial Instruments and 

Exchange Act of Japan.

  The accounts of its overseas consolidated subsidiaries are based 

on their accounting records, which are maintained in conformity 

with generally accepted accounting principles and practices 

prevailing in the respective countries in which the subsidiaries 

have been incorporated. Necessary adjustments to the accounts of 

the overseas consolidated subsidiaries have been reflected in the 

accompanying consolidated financial statements, in all material 

respects, to present them in conformity with International Financial 

Reporting Standards or accounting principles generally accepted in 

the United States of America.

  The presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements is made in conformity with the “Regulations Concerning 

Terminology, Forms and Preparation Methods of Consolidated 

Financial Statements” (ordinance promulgated by the Japanese 

Cabinet Office) and meets the requirements for disclosure of finan-

cial information of the Company on a consolidated basis.

  Amounts less than ¥1 million and $1 thousand have been round-

ed down. As a result, the totals shown in the consolidated financial 

statements and notes thereto do not necessarily agree with the 

sum of the individual account balances.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(1) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements consist of the accounts of 

the parent company and 55 subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017.

  BCS Group Limited established its subsidiary, Daifuku Airport 

Technologies Canada Inc., for the year ended March 31, 2017. On 

the other hand, Logan Telefex (France) S.A.S. was absorbed by 

Daifuku Logan Ltd. Moreover, Contec Co., Ltd. liquidated Beijing 

Contec Microelectronics Corporation, and Daifuku North America 

Holding Company liquidated American Conveyor and Equipment, 

Inc. and Jervis B. Webb GmbH. As a result, the number of 

consolidated subsidiaries increased by 1 and decreased by 4, 

from 58 as of March 31, 2016.

  The consolidated subsidiaries adopt the same fiscal year as the 

Company, except for 46 overseas consolidated subsidiaries, as of 

March 31, 2017, with fiscal years ending December 31. For the 

consolidation of these overseas subsidiaries, the Company makes 

appropriate adjustments for any material transactions subsequent 

to December 31.

  The Company has two affiliates, including Knapp AG, as of 

March 31, 2017, which are accounted for using the equity method. 

For equity-method affiliates that have a different fiscal year from 

the Company’s, the financial statements for the fiscal year of these 

companies are used. The number of equity-method affiliates is the 

same as the year ended March 31, 2016.

  The Company has one affiliate, IKS Co., Ltd., which is not 

accounted for using the equity method but using the cost method 

since total assets, net sales, net income or loss (the amount corre-

sponding to equity interests), and retained earnings (the amount 

corresponding to equity interests), etc. of the affiliates are not 

deemed to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidat-

ed financial statements as a whole. The number of non-equity-

method affiliates is the same as the year ended March 31, 2016.

  All significant intercompany transactions, account balances and 

unrealized profit among the consolidated group have been elimi-

nated.

(2) Translation of foreign currencies
Accounts receivable and payable denominated in foreign curren-

cies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates prevail-

ing at the balance sheet date. Resulting gains and losses are 

charged or credited to income for the period.

  The balance sheet accounts of the overseas consolidated sub-

sidiaries and affiliates are translated into Japanese yen at year-end 

exchange rates, except for shareholders’ equity, which is translated 

at the historical exchange rates. Revenue and expense accounts of 

the overseas consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates are translated 

into Japanese yen at the average rate for the year.

  The translation differences in Japanese yen arising from the use 

of different rates are recorded as “Foreign currency translation 

adjustments” and “Non-controlling interests” in the consolidated 

balance sheets.

  The portion equivalent to the equity of non-controlling interests is 

included in “Non-controlling interests” and the Company’s portion 

is presented as a separate component of net assets in the consoli-

dated balance sheets.

(3) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all liquid investments, generally 

with an original maturity date of three months or less, which are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are so near 

maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in value.

(4) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The costs of 

components relating to material handling systems and “Raw mate-

rials and supplies” are determined using the moving-average 

method, while the specific identification method is used for other 

inventories.

(5) Financial instruments
(a) Derivatives

All derivatives are stated at fair value.
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(b) Securities

Under the Japanese accounting standard for financial instruments, 

securities are classified into four categories: “Trading securities,” 

“Held-to-maturity debt securities,” “Investments in subsidiaries and 

affiliates” and “Other securities.”

  “Trading securities” are the securities that are held for the 

purpose of generating profits from short-term changes in prices. 

“Held-to-maturity debt securities” are debt securities the Company 

intends to hold to maturity.

  The Company and its subsidiaries also have “Investments in 

non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates” and “Other securi-

ties.”

  “Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates” are 

stated at cost, and costs of securities sold are determined based 

on the moving average method.

  “Other securities” for which market quotations are available are 

stated at fair value. Unrealized gain or loss on securities is included 

as a component of net assets in the consolidated balance sheets, 

and costs of securities sold are determined based on the moving 

average method.

  “Other securities” for which market quotations are unavailable 

are stated at cost, and costs of securities sold are determined 

based on the moving average method.

(c) Hedge accounting

(i) Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the deriva-

tives designated as “Hedging instruments” are deferred as assets 

or liabilities and included in net profit or loss in the same period 

during which the gains and losses on the hedged items or transac-

tions are recognized.

  The interest rate swaps that qualify for the exceptional treatment 

in hedge accounting are not revalued to market value, but the 

differences paid or received under the swap agreements are 

recognized and included in interest expense or income.

  The forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps that 

qualify for the exceptional treatment in hedge accounting are not 

revalued to market value, but the assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies hedged by the forward foreign exchange 

contracts are translated at the contractual rates of exchange.

(ii) The derivatives designated as hedging instruments by the 

Company are mainly forward exchange contracts, currency swap 

agreements and interest swap agreements. The corresponding 

hedged items are accounts receivable and payable, future transac-

tions denominated in foreign currencies, borrowings denominated 

in foreign currencies and long-term bank borrowings.

  The Company has a policy to utilize the above hedging instru-

ments in order to reduce the Company’s exposure to the risk of 

fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates. Thus, the 

Company’s purchases of hedging instruments are limited to, at 

maximum, the amounts of the hedged items.

(iii) The execution and management of hedge transactions are 

carried out to hedge fluctuation risk of currency rates and interest 

rates in accordance with internal regulations that provide transac-

tion and authorization limits.

(6) Depreciation and amortization
(a) Property, plant and equipment (excluding leased assets)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of 

these assets of the Company and its domestic consolidated sub-

sidiaries is computed principally on the declining-balance method, 

at rates based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

Depreciation of buildings, acquired on or after April 1, 1998, and 

facilities attached to buildings and structures acquired on or after 

April 1, 2016 is computed on the straight-line method, at rates 

based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated 

useful life over which the asset is depreciated and the treatment of 

residual value of the Company and its domestic consolidated 

subsidiaries are principally determined according to the same 

standards set out in the Corporation Tax Act of Japan.

  Depreciation of the assets of the overseas consolidated subsid-

iaries is computed principally on the straight-line method.

(b) Intangible assets (excluding leased assets)

Intangible assets are principally amortized by the straight-line 

method.

  Amortization of software for internal use is computed using the 

straight-line method over the estimated in-house working life of five 

years.

(c) Leased assets

Finance lease transactions that transfer ownership:

  The leased assets are depreciated using the same method as the 

assets in the Company’s possession.

Finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership:

  The leased assets are fully depreciated using the straight-line 

method over the lease term, which represents the expected useful 

life. However, the leased assets with guaranteed residual value are 

depreciated to the amount of the residual value.

(7) Amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill
Goodwill is amortized on the straight-line basis over its estimated 

useful life, which is a period of investment effects expected. 

However, in case of immaterial goodwill, it is fully amortized when it 

arose. Furthermore, the negative goodwill recognized before March 

31, 2010, is amortized on the straight-line basis over its estimated 

useful life.

(8) Allowance for doubtful accounts
To prepare for losses on uncollectible accounts receivable, the 

Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries provide 

allowances for doubtful accounts based on historical default rates 

with respect to receivables, and specific allowances for doubtful 

trade receivables and advances at estimated amounts considered 

to be uncollectible after reviewing individual collectability. In over-

seas consolidated subsidiaries, allowances are provided mainly for 

specific receivables at estimated amounts considered to be uncol-

lectible after reviewing their collectability.
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(9) Liabilities for retirement benefits
(a) �Allocation method of projected retirement benefits to periods 

of services

In calculating the retirement benefit obligations, the benefit formula 

method is used to allocate projected retirement benefits for the 

year ended March 31, 2016.

(b) �Amortization methods of prior service costs and actuarial 

gains and losses

Prior service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over a 

certain period within the average remaining service years of the 

employees (five years) from the time such liability arose.

  The actuarial gains and losses are amortized on a straight-line 

basis (except some consolidated subsidiaries adopting a declin-

ing-balance method) over a certain period within the average 

remaining service years of the employees (five years) from the next 

fiscal year after such gain or loss occurs.

(10) Provision for losses on construction contracts
Provision for losses on construction contracts is provided based 

on estimated amounts of losses from uncompleted construction 

contracts as of the end of the fiscal year.

(11) �Accounting policy for significant revenues  
and expenses

Accounting policy for recognition of revenues and costs of 

construction work is as follows:

(a) �Construction work, for which the outcome of the percentage 

completed at the balance sheet date is deemed certain:

Percentage-of-completion method (in which the percentage of 

completion is estimated based on the percentage of cost incurred 

relative to the estimated total cost)

(b) Other construction work:

Completed-contract method

(12) Japanese consumption taxes
Consumption taxes withheld by the Company and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries on sales of products are not included 

in the amount of “Net sales” in the accompanying consolidated 

statements of income and comprehensive income. Equally, any 

consumption taxes borne by the Company and its domestic con-

solidated subsidiaries on goods, services and expenses are not 

included in the accompanying consolidated statements of income 

and comprehensive income, but are recorded as an asset or 

liability in the consolidated balance sheets.

3. Changes in significant accounting policies

Following the revision of the Corporation Tax Act, the Company 

applies the Practical Solution on a change in depreciation method 

due to Tax Reform 2016 (ASBJ PITF No. 32; June 17, 2016) from 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017 and has changed the depre-

ciation method for facilities attached to buildings and structures 

acquired on or after April 1, 2016 from the declining-balance 

method to the straight-line method. The impact of this change 

is immaterial.

4. Changes in method of presentation

Consolidated Balance Sheets
“Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncomplet-

ed contracts,” which was previously presented as current assets as 

of March 31, 2016, is included in “Notes and accounts receivable 

and unbilled receivables” as of March 31, 2017 in order to improve 

the comparability of the consolidated financial statements. The 

consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2016 is reclassi-

fied, reflecting the change in method of presentation. As a result, 

¥28,033 million presented as “Costs and estimated earnings in 

excess of billings on uncompleted contracts” and ¥103,264 million 

presented as “Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receiv-

ables,” both of which were presented as current assets in the con-

solidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2016 are reclassified to 

“Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables” with 

¥131,298 million.

  “Advances received on uncompleted construction contracts and 

other,” which was previously included in “Other current liabilities” 

as of March 31, 2016, is presented as a separate item as of March 

31, 2017 because its quantitative materiality increased. The consol-

idated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2016 is reclassified, reflecting the change in method of presenta-

tion. As a result, ¥41,471 million presented as “Other current liabili-

ties” as of March 31, 2016 is reclassified to “Advances received on 

uncompleted construction contracts and other” with ¥22,637 mil-

lion and “Other current liabilities” with ¥18,833 million.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
Following the change in method of presentation of the consolidat-

ed balance sheet, “Increase or decrease in costs and estimated 

earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts,” which 

was previously included in “Other, net” of cash flows from operat-

ing activities for the year ended March 31, 2016, is included in 

“Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable” for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2017. The consolidated financial state-

ments for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016 is reclassified, 

reflecting this change in method of presentation. As a result, the 

increase of ¥9,652 million included in “Other, net” of cash flows 

from operating activities for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016 

is reclassified to “Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receiv-

able.”
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5. Additional information
Application of Implementation Guidance on Recoverability of 
Deferred Tax Assets
The Company applies the Revised Implementation Guidance on 

Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets (ASBJ Guidance No. 26; 

March 28, 2016) from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017.

Board Benefit Trust (BBT)
The Company has introduced the BBT system for its directors and 

corporate officers (hereinafter “Directors, etc.”).

  The system further clarifies the linkage of the remuneration for 

Directors, etc. with the Company’s business performance as well 

as its stock value, which enables Directors, etc. to share not only 

the benefit of increase in stock value but also the risk of decrease 

in stock value with shareholders. It is expected to motivate 

Directors, etc. to contribute to improving the Company’s business 

performance in the medium and long terms and boosting corporate 

value.

1) Outline of the transaction

The system is a stock compensation plan linked directly to the 

Company’s business performance, under which the Company’s 

shares are acquired through the trust using the funds that the 

Company contributes (hereinafter “the Trust”) and remuneration is 

provided to the Directors, etc. through the Trust, in accordance 

with the stock compensation regulation for officers stipulated by 

the Company. The remuneration is the Company’s shares (equiva-

lent to points accrued based on titles and target achievement) and 

the monetary payment (equivalent to the amount obtained by con-

verting the Company’s shares at a market price as of the retirement 

date). The Company’s shares to be acquired by the Trust this time 

are treasury shares held by the Company that are allotted through 

private placement. As a general rule, the shares are provided to the 

Directors, etc. upon retirement.

  The Company follows the Practical Solution on Transactions of 

Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees, etc. through 

Trusts (ASBJ PITF No. 30, March 26, 2015) with respect to 

accounting for the trust agreement.

2) The Company’s shares still held by the Trust

The Company records the shares of the Company, which are held 

by the Trust, as treasury stock in net assets, at its carrying amounts 

(excluding incidental expenses) in the Trust. The carrying amount 

and the number of the treasury stock were ¥180 million ($1,609 

thousand) and 90 thousand shares, respectively, as of March 31, 

2017.

6. United States dollar amounts

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in 

Japanese yen. The U.S. dollar amounts included in the accompa-

nying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto repre-

sent the arithmetical results of translating yen into dollars at the 

rate of ¥112.20 to U.S. $1, being the effective rate of exchange at 

March 31, 2017.

  The inclusion of such dollar amounts is solely for convenience 

and is not intended to imply that yen amounts have been or could 

be readily converted, realized or settled in dollars at a rate of 

¥112.20 to U.S. $1 or at any other rate.

7. Accumulated depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Accumulated depreciation of property, plant and equipment was ¥52,300 million ($466,136 thousand) and ¥52,895 million as of March 31, 

2017 and 2016, respectively.

8. �Inventories related to construction contracts with probable loss and provision for losses on construction 
contracts

Inventories related to construction contracts with probable loss and 

provision for losses on construction contracts are both presented 

without being offset.

  The amount of inventories related to construction contracts with 

probable loss, for which provision for losses on construction con-

tracts is provided, totaled ¥43 million ($391 thousand) and ¥29 

million as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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9. Financial instruments
(1) Status of financial instruments
(a) Policy for financial instruments

In consideration of capital investment plans to operate the 

manufacturing and sales activities principally of material handling 

systems and equipment, the Company and its consolidated sub-

sidiaries (collectively, “the Group”) raise necessary funds mainly 

through bank borrowings or issuance of bonds, while short-term 

operating capital is raised by bank borrowings. Temporary cash 

surpluses, if any, are invested in low risk short-term financial instru-

ments. The Group uses derivatives for the purpose of hedging the 

risk of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations related to for-

eign currency-denominated trade receivables and payables and the 

interest rate fluctuation risk associated with interest expenses on 

borrowings, and does not engage in speculative transactions as its 

policy.

(b) �Types of financial instruments, related risks and management 

thereof

Trade receivables (“Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled 

receivables”) are exposed to customer credit risks. The Group 

manages such risks by following its credit control regulations. As a 

rule, when entering a transaction with a new customer, the Group 

carefully makes credit decisions, after which the sales administra-

tion of each operating division monitors the customer’s condition 

periodically. The Group is then able to identify at an early stage and 

mitigate the risks resulting from a downturn of the financial situa-

tions, by managing each customer’s due dates and outstanding 

balances. Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies are 

exposed to the risk of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, 

but such risk is hedged principally by using forward foreign 

exchange contracts. Investment securities (“Investments in 

securities”), mainly consisting of equity securities of customers and 

suppliers with whom the Group has business relationships, are 

exposed to the risk of market price fluctuations. With respect to 

such risk, the Group periodically monitors market prices of the 

securities and financial conditions of the issuers.

  Trade payables (“Notes and accounts payable and construction 

contracts payable”) are mostly due within one year. Trade payables 

include amounts related to overseas construction work and are 

denominated in foreign currencies and, as such, are exposed to 

currency exchange rate fluctuation risk. However, the balance of 

these accounts consistently stays within the outstanding total 

amount of foreign currency-denominated trade accounts receiv-

able. Short-term borrowings are used for raising funds mainly for 

working capital, while long-term borrowings and corporate bonds 

are funding primarily for capital investment (investments in proper-

ty, plant and equipment). Borrowings with variable interest rates 

(floating-rate borrowings) are exposed to the interest rate fluctua-

tion risk. However, with regard to the long-term floating-rate 

borrowings, the Company uses interest rate swap transactions to 

fix the rate of future interest expenses as a hedge against the inter-

est rate fluctuation risk. Trade payables, borrowings and corporate 

bonds are all exposed to liquidity risk at the time of debt settle-

ment. The Group manages such risk through active cash manage-

ment, including the use of lending commitment lines from several 

financial institutions.

  Derivative transactions are executed in accordance with the 

Company’s internal derivative control regulations, which include 

transaction authorization, administrative structure and minimum 

credit ratings for counterparties. For information regarding hedging 

instruments, hedged items, policy on hedging, evaluation methods 

for hedge effectiveness, refer to “Hedge accounting” described 

under the previously specified “Summary of significant accounting 

policies.”

(c) �Supplementary explanation concerning fair values  

of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments include values based on the 

market price, and rationally calculated values in cases where 

market price is not readily available. In the calculation of such 

values, variable factors are also taken into consideration and, 

therefore, the values calculated may vary if different factors or 

assumptions are employed. The contract amounts and other infor-

mation provided in Note 17 “Derivatives and hedging activities” are 

not necessarily indicative of the amounts of the actual market risk 

involved in derivative transactions.
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(2) Fair values of financial instruments
The balance sheet carrying amounts, fair values and unrealized 

gains/losses of the financial instruments as of March 31, 2017 and 

2016 are as presented below. However, the financial instruments 

whose fair values are not readily determinable are excluded from 

these tables (see [Note 2] below):

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Fair value Variance

(1) Cash on hand and in banks ¥  64,802 ¥  64,802 ¥—

(2) Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables 124,005 124,005 —

(3) Investments in securities

    “Other securities” 13,802 13,802 —

  Total assets ¥202,610 ¥202,610 ¥—

(1) Notes and accounts payable and construction contracts payable ¥  40,311 ¥  40,311 ¥—

(2) Electronically recorded obligations - operating 18,806 18,806 —

(3) Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings 21,647 21,647 —

(4) Bonds 2,700 2,711 11

(5) Long-term borrowings 15,422 15,461 38

  Total liabilities ¥  98,888 ¥  98,938 ¥50

Derivative transactions (*) ¥        (32) ¥        (32) ¥—

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Fair value Variance

(1) Cash on hand and in banks ¥  49,187 ¥  49,187 ¥  —

(2) Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables 131,298 131,298 —

(3) Investments in securities

    “Other securities” 12,281 12,281 —

  Total assets ¥192,767 ¥192,767 ¥  —

(1) Notes and accounts payable and construction contracts payable ¥  40,696 ¥  40,696 ¥  —

(2) Electronically recorded obligations - operating 17,270 17,270 —

(3) Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings 8,702 8,702 —

(4) Bonds 2,700 2,723 23

(5) Long-term borrowings 29,501 29,640 138

  Total liabilities ¥  98,870 ¥  99,032 ¥161

Derivative transactions (*) ¥        (11) ¥        (11) ¥  —
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For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Fair value Variance

(1) Cash on hand and in banks $   577,559 $   577,559 $  —

(2) Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables 1,105,222 1,105,222 —

(3) Investments in securities

    “Other securities” 123,013 123,013 —

  Total assets $1,805,795 $1,805,795 $  —

(1) Notes and accounts payable and construction contracts payable $   359,279 $   359,279 $  —

(2) Electronically recorded obligations - operating 167,617 167,617 —

(3) Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings 192,939 192,939 —

(4) Bonds 24,064 24,167 103

(5) Long-term borrowings 137,459 137,805 346

  Total liabilities $   881,360 $   881,809 $449

Derivative transactions (*) $        (291) $        (291) $  —

(*) Receivables and payables resulted from derivative transactions are presented in net amount. Therefore, the amounts in parentheses indicate net payables.

[Note 1] Calculation methods of fair values of financial instruments and related information 
concerning investment in securities and derivative transactions:
Assets
(1) Cash on hand and in banks, (2) Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receiv-
ables
These assets are recorded at their carrying amounts because their fair values approxi-
mate the carrying amounts reflective of their short-term maturity nature.
(3) Investments in securities
The fair values of equity securities are determined using the quoted prices at the stock 
exchange. For information concerning securities classified by holding purposes, see Note 
10 “Investments in securities.”

Liabilities
(1) Notes and accounts payable and construction contracts payable, (2) Electronically 
recorded obligations - operating, (3) Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-
term borrowings
These liabilities are recorded at their carrying amounts because their fair values approxi-
mate the carrying amounts reflective of their short-term maturity nature.
(4) Bonds, (5) Long-term borrowings
The fair values of these items are determined by discounting the aggregate amounts of 
the principal and interests using estimated interest rates assuming that the similar bonds 
and borrowings are newly made. Long-term borrowings bearing variable interest rates 
(floating-rate borrowings) are subject to the exceptional treatment applicable to interest 
rate swap transactions or currency swap transactions (see Note 17 “Derivatives and 
hedging activities”) and, therefore, their fair values are determined by discounting the 
aggregate amounts of the principal and interests (that are accounted for together with 
the relevant interest rate swap transactions or currency swap transactions) in the same 
manner.

Derivative transactions
Please refer to Note 17 “Derivatives and hedging activities.”

[Note 2] Financial instruments, of which fair values are not readily determinable as of 
March 31, 2017 and 2016:
For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Category Carrying amount on consolidated balance sheets

Unlisted securities ¥7,458

For the year ended March 31, 2016:

(Million yen)

Category Carrying amount on consolidated balance sheets

Unlisted securities ¥7,289

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Category Carrying amount on consolidated balance sheets

Unlisted securities $66,476

  These securities have no quoted market prices, and the future cash flows thereof are 
not estimable. As their fair values are not readily determinable, they are excluded from 
“Assets (3) Investments in securities.” The unlisted securities include the investments in 
non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates, amounting to ¥6,873 million ($61,262 
thousand) and ¥6,704 million as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

[Note 3] The expected settlement subsequent to the balance sheet date for monetary assets and investments in securities with maturity dates:
For the year ended March 31, 2017:

(Million yen)

Due within 
one year

Due after one 
year and within 

five years

Due after five 
years and 

within ten years
Due after 
ten years

Cash on hand and in banks ¥  64,802 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables 124,005 — — —

  Total ¥188,808 ¥— ¥— ¥—
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For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Due within 
one year

Due after one 
year and within 

five years

Due after five 
years and 

within ten years
Due after 
ten years

Cash on hand and in banks ¥  49,187 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables 131,298 — — —

  Total ¥180,485 ¥— ¥— ¥—

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Due within 
one year

Due after one 
year and within 

five years

Due after five 
years and 

within ten years
Due after 
ten years

Cash on hand and in banks $   577,559   $— $— $—

Notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables 1,105,222 — — —

  Total $1,682,781 $— $— $—

[Note 4] The expected redemption subsequent to the balance sheet date for bonds, long-term borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities:
For the year ended March 31, 2017:

(Million yen)

Due within 
one year

Due after one 
year and within 

two years

Due after two 
years and within 

three years

Due after three 
years and within 

four years

Due after four 
years and within 

five years
Due after 
five years

Short-term borrowings and current  
  portion of long-term borrowings ¥21,647 ¥       — ¥     — ¥  — ¥  — ¥—

Bonds — 2,700 — — — —

Long-term borrowings — 12,522 2,500 200 200 —

  Total ¥21,647 ¥15,222 ¥2,500 ¥200 ¥200 ¥—

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Due within 
one year

Due after one 
year and within 

two years

Due after two 
years and within 

three years

Due after three 
years and within 

four years

Due after four 
years and within 

five years
Due after 
five years

Short-term borrowings and current  
  portion of long-term borrowings ¥8,702 ¥       — ¥       — ¥     — ¥  — ¥—

Bonds — — 2,700 — — —

Long-term borrowings — 15,560 12,041 1,700 200 —

  Total ¥8,702 ¥15,560 ¥14,741 ¥1,700 ¥200 ¥—

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Due within 
one year

Due after one 
year and within 

two years

Due after two 
years and within 

three years

Due after three 
years and within 

four years

Due after four 
years and within 

five years
Due after 
five years

Short-term borrowings and current  
  portion of long-term borrowings $192,939 $         — $       — $     — $     — $—

Bonds — 24,064 — — — —

Long-term borrowings — 111,612 22,281 1,782 1,782 —

  Total $192,939 $135,676 $22,281 $1,782 $1,782 $—

10. Investments in securities
“Other securities” with carrying amounts on the consolidated balance sheets that exceed their acquisition costs were as follows:

(Million yen)

March 31, 2017

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Difference

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥7,379 ¥13,555 ¥6,175

15DAIFUKU CO., LTD.  ANNUAL REPORT 2017



(Million yen)

March 31, 2016

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Difference

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥6,621 ¥11,347 ¥4,725

(U.S. thousand dollars)

March 31, 2017

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Difference

Investments in securities:

Equity securities $65,775 $120,812 $55,036

  “Other securities” with carrying amounts on the consolidated balance sheets that do not exceed their acquisition costs were as follows:

(Million yen)

March 31, 2017

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Difference

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥299 ¥247 ¥(52)

(Million yen)

March 31, 2016

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Difference

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥1,035 ¥933 ¥(101)

(U.S. thousand dollars)

March 31, 2017

Acquisition cost

Carrying amount 
on consolidated 
balance sheets Difference

Investments in securities:

Equity securities $2,673 $2,201 $(471)

  The acquisition costs in the above tables are representative of 

carrying amounts after impairment adjustment.

  No impairment loss was recorded for the year ended March 31, 

2017.

  In general, the Company recognizes an impairment loss when 

the fair value of the security decreases by 50% or more from its 

acquisition cost as it is deemed as a significant decline. Furthermore, 

the Company recognizes an impairment loss when the fair value of 

the security continuously decreases for two years by 40% or more 

and below 50% from the acquisition cost.

“Held-to-maturity debt securities” as of March 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Omitted due to no material securities being held

“Held-to-maturity debt securities” sold during the years ended 

March 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Not applicable

“Other securities” sold during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Sale value Gain on sales

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥2 ¥0
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For the year ended March 31, 2016:

(Million yen)

Sale value Gain on sales

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥425 ¥374

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Sale value Gain on sales

Investments in securities:

Equity securities $21 $5

[Note] �Although other securities were sold during the year ended March 31, 2017, the gain is included in “miscellaneous income” of other income because its quantitative materiality is 
small.

11. Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates that are included in “Investments in securities” were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Investments in securities:

Equity securities ¥6,873 ¥6,704 $61,262

12. Short-term borrowings, long-term borrowings, bonds and lease obligations
Short-term borrowings are principally bank borrowings.

  The weighted average interest rate applicable to the short-term borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2017 was 2.2%.

  Short-term borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Borrowings from banks:

  Unsecured ¥6,042 ¥6,771 $53,852

Long-term borrowings are principally bank borrowings.

  The weighted average interest rate applicable to the portion due within one year of long-term borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 

2017 was 0.6%. The weighted average interest rate applicable to the long-term borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2017 was 0.8%.

  Long-term borrowings and bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Borrowings, principally from banks:

  Secured and unsecured ¥31,028 ¥31,432 $276,546

  Less: portion due within one year 15,605 1,930 139,087

  Subtotal 15,422 29,501 137,459

Bonds

  0.50% yen unsecured bonds, due 2019 700 700 6,238

  0.73% yen unsecured bonds, due 2019 2,000 2,000 17,825

  Subtotal 2,700 2,700 24,064

  Total ¥18,122 ¥32,201 $161,523

  The 0.50% unsecured bonds in the principal amount of ¥700 

million, due 2019, issued on March 25, 2014 were issued in Japan 

at their face value.

  The 0.73% unsecured bonds in the principal amount of ¥2,000 

million, due 2019, issued on March 25, 2014 were issued in Japan 

at their face value.
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Borrowings details

The analysis of long-term borrowings with maturity within five years after March 31, 2017, other than the portion due within one year was 

as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

Due after one year and within two years ¥12,522 $111,612

Due after two years and within three years 2,500 22,281

Due after three years and within four years 200 1,782

Due after four years and within five years 200 1,782

  Total ¥15,422 $137,459

Lease obligations details

Lease obligations outstanding as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Lease obligations ¥1,540 ¥1,690 $13,726

Less: portion due within one year 200 278 1,782

  Total ¥1,340 ¥1,411 $11,944

[Note 1] �Average interest rates of lease obligations are not provided herein because, on the consolidated balance sheets, the amounts of lease obligations are presented inclusive of 
interest expenses as part of the total lease payments.

[Note 2] The analysis of lease obligations with maturity within five years after March 31, 2017, other than the portion due within one year was as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

Due after one year and within two years ¥306 $2,729

Due after two years and within three years 200 1,783

Due after three years and within four years 114 1,018

Due after four years and within five years 108 965

  Total ¥729 $6,498

[Note 3] �To secure timely and efficient financing of working capital, the Company entered into and maintains lending commitments with six banks that provide lines of credit up to 
¥20,000 million in total.

13. Asset retirement obligations details
Since the amounts of asset retirement obligations as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were less than 1% of the total liabilities and net assets 

as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, asset retirement obligations details have been omitted.

14. Retirement benefit plans

Employees who terminate their services with the Company or its 

domestic consolidated subsidiaries are, under most circumstances, 

entitled to lump-sum severance indemnities determined by refer-

ence to current basic rates of pay, length of service and conditions 

under which the terminations occur. The Company and its domes-

tic consolidated subsidiaries have defined contribution plans and 

hybrid type of pension plans (cash balance plans).

  In addition, the Company contributed certain marketable equity 

securities to an employee retirement benefit trust, which is included 

in the plan assets.

  Certain of the overseas consolidated subsidiaries have defined 

contribution plans as well as defined benefit plans.

  In defined contribution plans in certain consolidated subsidiaries, 

liabilities for retirement benefits and retirement benefit expenses 

are calculated using the simplified method.

  The cash balance plan is a defined benefit pension plan, which 

was established by the Company and its domestic consolidated 

subsidiaries. This plan is a multiple employer plan. Notes for the 

retirement benefits based on the multiple employer plan are includ-

ed in the notes for the retirement benefits based on defined contri-

bution plans below.
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(1) �Movements in retirement benefit obligations (excluding the plans using the simplified method) for the year were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Balance at beginning of year ¥60,973 ¥62,263 $543,439

  Service cost 1,365 1,198 12,169

  Interest cost 1,079 1,635 9,622

    Accrued actuarial gains and losses (130) (347) (1,165)

  Payments for retirement benefits (2,701) (2,784) (24,073)

  Prior service cost — 33 —

    Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,647) (936) (14,686)

  Other (103) (87) (919)

Balance at end of year ¥58,836 ¥60,973 $524,386

(2) �Movements in plan assets (excluding the plans using the simplified method) for the year were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Balance at beginning of year ¥48,829 ¥51,531 $435,202

  Expected return on plan assets 2,422 3,242 21,588

  Accrued actuarial gains and losses (473) (3,703) (4,220)

  Employer contributions 1,545 1,278 13,771

  Payments for retirement benefits (2,315) (2,545) (20,634)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,209) (878) (10,783)

  Other (103) (94) (919)

Balance at end of year ¥48,695 ¥48,829 $434,003

(3) �Movements in liabilities for retirement benefits in the plans using the simplified method for the year were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Balance at beginning of year ¥720 ¥730 $6,422

  Retirement benefit expenses 384 405 3,428

  Payments for retirement benefits (86) (33) (768)

  Employer contributions (276) (356) (2,467)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments (8) (11) (71)

  Other (20) (14) (181)

Balance at end of year ¥713 ¥720 $6,360

(4) �Reconciliation of retirement benefit obligations and plan assets at the end of the year to liabilities for retirement benefits and assets for 

retirement benefits on the consolidated balance sheet were as follows (including the plans using the simplified method):

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Retirement benefit obligations in funded plans ¥60,026 ¥62,043 $534,995

Plan assets (49,991) (49,946) (445,554)

10,035 12,097 89,441

Retirement benefit obligations in unfunded plans 832 769 7,419

Other (9) 33 (83)

Net liabilities and assets on consolidated balance sheets 10,858 12,900 96,777

Liabilities for retirement benefits 13,486 14,500 120,201

Assets for retirement benefits (2,628) (1,600) (23,423)

Net liabilities and assets on consolidated balance sheets ¥10,858 ¥12,900 $  96,777
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(5) Details of retirement benefit expenses were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Service cost ¥1,365 ¥1,198 $12,169

Interest cost 1,079 1,635 9,622

Expected return on plan assets (2,422) (3,242) (21,588)

Amortization of actuarial gains and losses 1,021 582 9,107

Retirement benefit expenses using the simplified method 384 405 3,428

Other — 41 —

Retirement benefit expenses on defined benefit plans ¥1,429 ¥   621 $12,739

[Note] �Other than the retirement benefit expenses above, certain consolidated subsidiaries recognized special retirement benefits of ¥113 million as extraordinary loss for the years 
ended March 31, 2016, respectively.

(6) Details of adjustments to retirement benefits before tax were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Actuarial gains and losses ¥(1,111) ¥2,732 $(9,909)

  Total ¥(1,111) ¥2,732 $(9,909)

(7) Details of accumulated adjustments to retirement benefits before tax were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses ¥10,574 ¥11,686 $94,245

  Total ¥10,574 ¥11,686 $94,245

(8) Matters regarding plan assets

Percentages of each category of the plan assets were as follows:

(%)

March 31 2017 2016

Equity securities 44% 45%

Debt securities 38 38

General accounts at life insurance 10 10

Cash on hand and in banks 5 4

Other 3 3

  Total 100% 100%

[Note] The retirement benefit trust set up for the corporate pension plans consists of 12% and 13% of the total plan assets as of March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

  To determine the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the Company considers the current and forecast allocation of plan 

assets and the current and expected long-term rates of return on the diverse assets that compose the plan assets.

(9) Assumption for actuarial calculations as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(%)

March 31 2017 2016

Discount rate 0.075 - 8.5% 0.075 – 9.0%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 1.5 - 8.0% 1.5 – 8.0%

[Note] The Group does not use the salary increase rate for calculating retirement benefit obligation, mainly attributable to the adoption of a point-based plan.

Defined contribution plans

The amount of contributions required under the defined contribution plans of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of March 

31, 2017 and 2016 was ¥1,042 million ($9,292 thousand) and ¥956 million, respectively.
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15. Lease commitments
The finance lease transactions, which do not transfer the ownership of the leased assets and commenced prior to the fiscal year when 

“Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” was initially applied, were summarized as follows:

(1) �Acquisition cost equivalent, accumulated depreciation equivalent and net carrying amount equivalent of leased assets as 
of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Acquisition cost equivalent

  —Machinery and vehicles ¥— ¥607 $—

Accumulated depreciation equivalent — 607 —

Net carrying amount equivalent ¥— ¥  — $—

  The acquisition cost equivalent of leased assets is calculated using the interest-inclusive method because future minimum lease pay-

ments account for only a small proportion of property, plant and equipment at the end of the year.

(2) Lease payments and depreciation equivalent

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Lease payments ¥— ¥36 $—

Depreciation equivalent ¥— ¥36 $—

(3) �Method of calculating depreciation equivalent and interest equivalent of leases
The leased assets are fully depreciated using the straight-line method over the lease term, which represents the expected useful life. 

However, the leased assets with guaranteed residual value are depreciated to the amount of the residual value.

Operating leases

The future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable leases as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Due within one year ¥   583 ¥   765 $5,201

Due after one year 474 1,037 4,225

  Total ¥1,057 ¥1,802 $9,426

Impairment loss on leased assets

For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, there was no impairment loss on leased assets.
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16. Contingent liabilities
The contingent liabilities as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Guarantee for bank borrowings of IKS Co., Ltd. ¥15 ¥30 $133

  Total ¥15 ¥30 $133

17. Derivatives and hedging activities

(1) Derivative transactions to which the Group did not apply hedge accounting
For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Category of derivative transaction

Contract amount

Fair value
Appraisal profit 

and loss
Of which due 
after one year

Contracts except market transactions Forward exchange contracts (*1)

  Sell

    Euro ¥989 ¥— ¥(60) ¥(60)

  Total ¥989 ¥— ¥(60) ¥(60)

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Category of derivative transaction

Contract amount

Fair value
Appraisal profit 

and loss
Of which due 
after one year

Contracts except market transactions Forward exchange contracts (*1)

  Sell

    U.S. dollar ¥   199 ¥— ¥  (1) ¥  (1)

    Canadian dollar 166 — 8 8

    Euro 1,256 — (90) (90)

  Total ¥1,622 ¥— ¥(84) ¥(84)

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Category of derivative transaction

Contract amount

Fair value
Appraisal profit 

and loss
Of which due 
after one year

Contracts except market transactions Forward exchange contracts (*1)

  Sell

    Euro $8,818 $— $(538) $(538)

  Total $8,818 $— $(538) $(538)

(*1) �The fair value is determined at the quoted prices at the forward exchange rates market.
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(2) Derivative transactions subject to hedge accounting
(a) Currency-related

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Method of hedge 
accounting

Category of  
derivative transaction Principal hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value
Method of calculating 
the fair value

Of which due 
after one year

Principal  
  method

Forward exchange contracts Determined at the  
  �quoted prices at  

the forward 
exchange rates 
market

  Sell

    U.S. dollar Accounts receivable  
  (future transactions)

¥5,302 ¥     — ¥78

    Canadian dollar 59 — 0

    Korean won 2,668 — (39)

    Thai baht 64 — (0)

    Chinese yuan 481 — (4)

    New Taiwan dollar 187 — (9)

    Malaysian ringgit 205 — (2)

  Buy

    Korean won Accounts payable   
  (future transactions)

(108) — 0

    New Taiwan dollar (697) — 8

    Chinese yuan (200) — 2

    U.S. dollar (375) — (6)

Exceptional  
  �treatment of 
forward 
exchange  
contracts

Forward exchange contracts

  Sell

    U.S. dollar Accounts receivable 2,240 — (*1)

    Korean won 287 —

    New Taiwan dollar 41 —

    Chinese yuan 608 —

    Thai baht 81 —

  Buy

    Korean won Accounts payable (57) —

    British pound (14) —

    U.S. dollar (66) —

    New Taiwan dollar (36) —

Currency swaps

  U.S. dollar Long-term borrowings 6,000 2,000 (*2)

  Total ¥16,671 ¥2,000 ¥27
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For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Method of hedge 
accounting

Category of  
derivative transaction Principal hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value
Method of calculating 
the fair value

Of which due 
after one year

Principal  
  method

Forward exchange contracts Determined at the  
  �quoted prices at  

the forward 
exchange rates 
market

  Sell

    U.S. dollar Accounts receivable  
  (future transactions)

¥  1,398 ¥     — ¥72

    Euro 11 — 0

    Korean won 264 — 14

    British pound 4 — 0

    Thai baht 35 — 0

    Chinese yuan 7 — 0

  Buy

    British pound Accounts payable   
  (future transactions)

(404) — (1)

    Thai baht (130) — (3)

    Korean won (91) — (2)

    New Taiwan dollar (11) — 0

    Chinese yuan (158) — (8)

Exceptional  
  �treatment of 
forward 
exchange  
contracts

Forward exchange contracts

  Sell

    U.S. dollar Accounts receivable 2,556 — (*1)

    Euro 6 —

    Korean won 1,143 —

    British pound 13 —

  Buy

    Thai baht Accounts payable (84) —

    Korean won (69) —

Currency swaps

  U.S. dollar Long-term borrowings 6,000 6,000 (*2)

  Total ¥10,491 ¥6,000 ¥72
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For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Method of hedge 
accounting

Category of  
derivative transaction Principal hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value
Method of calculating 
the fair value

Of which due 
after one year

Principal  
  method

Forward exchange contracts Determined at the  
  �quoted prices at  

the forward 
exchange rates 
market

  Sell

    U.S. dollar Accounts receivable  
  (future transactions)

$47,257 $       — $702

    Canadian dollar 531 — 8

    Korean won 23,781 — (349)

    Thai baht 577 — (4)

    Chinese yuan 4,290 — (41)

    New Taiwan dollar 1,673 — (83)

    Malaysian ringgit 1,830 — (22)

  Buy

    Korean won Accounts payable  
  (future transactions)

(964) — 0

    New Taiwan dollar (6,212) — 73

    Chinese yuan (1,788) — 22

    U.S. dollar (3,349) — (59)

Exceptional  
  �treatment of 
forward 
exchange  
contracts

Forward exchange contracts

  Sell

    U.S. dollar Accounts receivable 19,965 — (*1)

    Korean won 2,564 —

    New Taiwan dollar 373 —

    Chinese yuan 5,421 —

    Thai baht 727 —

  Buy

    Korean won Accounts payable (512) —

    British pound (131) —

    U.S. dollar (595) —

    New Taiwan dollar (327) —

Currency swaps

  U.S. dollar Long-term borrowings 53,475 17,825 (*2)

  Total $14,859 $17,825 $247

(*1) �Forward exchange contracts with exceptional treatment are accounted for together with the principal hedged items of notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables; there-
fore, the fair values of notes and accounts receivable and unbilled receivables include those of the forward exchange contracts.

(*2) �Currency swaps with exceptional treatment are accounted for together with the principal hedged item of long-term borrowings; therefore, the fair value of long-term borrowings 
includes those of the currency swaps.

(b) Interest-related

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Method of hedge 
accounting

Category of  
derivative transaction Principal hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value
Method of calculating 
the fair value

Of which due 
after one year

Exceptional  
  �treatment of 
interest rate 
swaps

Interest rate swaps Long-term borrowings

 � Fixed payment/ 
  Variable receipt ¥24,412 ¥11,780 (*)

  Total ¥24,412 ¥11,780 ¥—

25DAIFUKU CO., LTD.  ANNUAL REPORT 2017



For the year ended March 31, 2016:

(Million yen)

Method of hedge 
accounting

Category of  
derivative transaction Principal hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value
Method of calculating 
the fair value

Of which due 
after one year

Exceptional  
  �treatment of 
interest rate 
swaps

Interest rate swaps Long-term borrowings

 � Fixed payment/ 
  Variable receipt ¥25,200 ¥23,940 (*)

  Total ¥25,200 ¥23,940 ¥—

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Method of hedge 
accounting

Category of  
derivative transaction Principal hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value
Method of calculating 
the fair value

Of which due 
after one year

Exceptional  
  �treatment of 
interest rate 
swaps

Interest rate swaps Long-term borrowings

 � Fixed payment/ 
  Variable receipt $217,579 $104,991 (*)

  Total $217,579 $104,991 $—

(*) �Interest rate swaps with exceptional treatment are accounted for together with the principal hedged item of long-term borrowings; therefore, the fair value of long-term borrowings 
includes those of the interest rate swaps.

18. Consolidated statements of changes in net assets

(1) Matters regarding issued shares:
For the year ended March 31, 2017:

(Thousand shares)

Class of shares
As of 

April 1, 2016 Increase Decrease
As of 

March 31, 2017

Common stock 123,610 — — 123,610

For the year ended March 31, 2016:

(Thousand shares)

Class of shares
As of 

April 1, 2015 Increase Decrease
As of 

March 31, 2016

Common stock 113,671 9,938 — 123,610

[Note] �The increase is due to the exercise of stock acquisition rights related to Japanese yen convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights, due 2017.

(2) Matters regarding treasury stock:
For the year ended March 31, 2017:

(Shares)

Class of shares
As of 

April 1, 2016 Increase Decrease
As of 

March 31, 2017

Common stock 1,958,836 92,475 223,407 1,827,904

[Note 1] �Details of increases in the number of treasury stock were as follows: 
• Increased by 2,475 shares due to the purchase of less-than-a-unit shares 
• Increased by 90,000 shares due to the purchase of the Company’s shares by Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E) for the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) 
Details of decreases in the number of treasury stock were as follows: 
• Decreased by 7 shares due to the sale of less-than-a-unit shares 
• �Decreased by 133,400 shares due to the sale to the Daifuku Employee Shareholding Association from the E-Ship Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the 

E-Ship program
 • �Decreased by 90,000 shares due to the disposal to Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E) for the BBT

[Note 2] �Under the resolution adopted at the Board of Directors’ meeting on December 12, 2013, the Company introduced an employee shareholding incentive plan through a trust 
(E-Ship). At the same time, the Company resolved to dispose 451,000 shares of treasury stock to the Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. as a private placement, 
which was implemented on January 9, 2014. 
  Under a resolution adopted at the general meeting of shareholders held on June 24, 2016 and a decision at the Board of Directors based on that resolution, the Company has 
decided to introduce the BBT and to conduct a private placement of 90,000 shares of treasury stock to Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E). On August 26, 
2016, the treasury stock was allocated to the trust account. 
  The number of treasury stock includes the number of the Company’s common stock held by the E-Ship Trust (Trust period of E-Ship ended at November 30, 2016, and all 
were disposed of on December 1, 2016.) and Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E); the details were as follows: 
The Company’s common stock held by The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. (E-Ship Trust) 
• 133,400 shares as of April 1, 2016 and 0 shares as of March 31, 2017. 
The Company’s common stock held by Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E) 
• 0 shares as of April 1, 2016 and 90,000 shares as of March 31, 2017

26



For the year ended March 31, 2016:

(Shares)

Class of shares
As of 

April 1, 2015 Increase Decrease
As of 

March 31, 2016

Common stock 2,853,707 3,531 898,402 1,958,836

[Note 1] �Details of increases in the number of treasury stock were as follows: 
• Increased by 3,531 shares due to the purchase of less-than-a-unit shares 
Details of decreases in the number of treasury stock were as follows: 
• Decreased by 106 shares due to the sale of less-than-a-unit shares 
• �Decreased by 127,200 shares due to the sale to the Daifuku Employee Shareholding Association from the E-Ship Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the 

E-Ship program
 �• �Decreased by 771,096 shares due to appropriation of treasury stocks by exercising of stock acquisition rights related to Japanese yen convertible bonds with stock acquisition 

rights, due 2017.

[Note 2] �Under the resolution adopted at the Board of Directors’ meeting on December 12, 2013, the Company introduced an employee shareholding incentive plan through a trust 
(E-Ship). At the same time, the Company resolved to dispose 451,000 shares of treasury stock to the Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. as a private placement, 
which was implemented on January 9, 2014. The number of treasury stock includes the number of the Company’s common stock held by the E-Ship Trust, and the details were 
as follows: 
• As of April 1, 2015, the number of the common stock held by the Trust was 260,600 shares. 
• As of March 31, 2016, the number of the common stock held by the Trust was 133,400 shares.

(3) Matters regarding stock acquisition rights:
For the year ended March 31, 2017:

Not applicable

For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Number of shares
Outstanding 

amount

(Thousand shares) (Million yen)

Class of shares As of April 1, 2015 Increase Decrease
As of 

March 31, 2016
As of

March 31, 2016

Stock acquisition rights for Japanese  
  yen convertible bonds, due 2017 Common stock 10,680 28 10,709 — ¥—

  Total 10,680 28 10,709 — ¥—

[Note 1] �The number of shares is based on the assumption that the stock acquisition rights were exercised.

[Note 2] �The number of shares increased because the conversion price was adjusted to ¥1,400.6 from ¥1,404.4 under the terms for adjustment to the conversion price as a result of an 
increase in cash dividends in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors’ meeting on May 14, 2015.

[Note 3] �The number of shares decreased because stock acquisition rights were exercised. All the stock acquisition rights were exercised as of December 17, 2015.

(4) Matters regarding dividends:
(a) Dividends paid during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

Resolution adopted Class of shares

Aggregate 
dividends 

(Million yen)

Dividend 
per share 

(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting on May 12, 2016 Common stock ¥2,435 ¥20 March 31, 2016 June 27, 2016

Board of Directors’ meeting on November 10, 2016
Common stock 1,462 12

September 30, 
2016

December 6, 
2016

[Note 1] �Aggregate dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ meeting on May 12, 2016, includes dividends of ¥2 million on the Company’s shares (treasury stock) held by the E-Ship 
Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the E-Ship program.

[Note 2] �Aggregate dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ meeting on November 10, 2016, includes dividends of ¥1 million on the Company’s shares (treasury stock) held by the 
E-Ship Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the E-Ship program and Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E) for the BBT.
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For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Resolution adopted Class of shares

Aggregate 
dividends 

(Million yen)

Dividend 
per share 

(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting on May 14, 2015 Common stock ¥1,666 ¥15 March 31, 2015 June 29, 2015

Board of Directors’ meeting on November 10, 2015
Common stock 1,111 10

September 30, 
2015

December 4, 
2015

[Note 1] �Aggregate dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ meeting on May 14, 2015, includes dividends of ¥3 million on the Company’s shares (treasury stock) held by the E-Ship 
Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the E-Ship program.

[Note 2] �Aggregate dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ meeting on November 10, 2015, includes dividends of ¥1 million on the Company’s shares (treasury stock) held by the 
E-Ship Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the E-Ship program.

For the year ended March 31, 2017:

Resolution adopted Class of shares

Aggregate 
dividends 

(U.S. thousand 
dollars)

Dividend 
per share 

(U.S. dollars) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting on May 12, 2016 Common stock $21,708 $0.17 March 31, 2016 June 27, 2016

Board of Directors’ meeting on November 10, 2016
Common stock 13,034 0.10

September 30, 
2016

December 6, 
2016

(b) Dividends with a record date during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, payable in the following fiscal year were as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

Resolution adopted Class of shares Source of dividends

Aggregate 
dividends 

(Million yen)

Dividend 
per share 

(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting on  
  May 11, 2017 Common stock

Retained  
  earnings ¥3,656 ¥30 March 31, 2017 June 26, 2017

[Note] �Aggregate dividends include dividends of ¥2 million on the Company’s shares (treasury stock) held by the BBT in the Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account E) under 
the BBT program.

For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Resolution adopted Class of shares Source of dividends

Aggregate 
dividends 

(Million yen)

Dividend 
per share 

(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting on  
  May 12, 2016 Common stock

Retained  
  earnings ¥2,435 ¥20 March 31, 2016 June 27, 2016

[Note] �Aggregate dividends include dividends of ¥2 million on the Company’s shares (treasury stock) held by the E-Ship Trust in The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. under the 
E-Ship program.

For the year ended March 31, 2017:

Resolution adopted Class of shares Source of dividends

Aggregate 
dividends 

(U.S. thousand 
dollars)

Dividend 
per share 

(U.S. dollars) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting on  
  May 11, 2017 Common stock

Retained  
  earnings $32,586 $0.26 March 31, 2017 June 26, 2017
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19. Major items of selling, general and administrative expenses
Major items of selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Selling expenses

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Sales commissions ¥  915 ¥1,155 $  8,155

Advertising 236 325 2,108

Outsourcing 697 749 6,218

Salaries and bonuses 8,012 8,985 71,416

Retirement benefit expenses 332 186 2,961

Welfare 1,494 1,724 13,323

Travel and transportation 1,519 1,655 13,546

Rent 481 525 4,295

Depreciation 159 215 1,421

General and administrative expenses

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Outsourcing ¥2,723 ¥3,158 $24,274

Directors’ compensation 1,013 887 9,029

Salaries and bonuses 9,440 9,349 84,141

Retirement benefit expenses 796 824 7,094

Welfare 1,428 1,338 12,735

Depreciation 1,837 2,004 16,374

Research and development 2,461 2,103 21,934

20. Provision for losses on construction contracts included in cost of sales
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Provision for losses on construction contracts included in cost of sales ¥(104) ¥473 $(928)

21. Research and development
Research and development expenditures included in general and administrative expenses and manufacturing costs were ¥7,489 million 

($66,748 thousand) and ¥7,009 million for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

22. Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Details of loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Buildings and structures ¥44 ¥207 $393

Machinery 39 371 352

Tools and fixtures 7 7 69

Software — 0 —

Other — 2 —
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23. Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment
Major items of gain on sales of property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Buildings and structures ¥  — ¥163 $     —

Machinery and vehicles 12 3 109

Tools and fixtures — 0 —

Land 477 — 4,259

24. Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment
Major items of loss on sales of property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Buildings and structures ¥19 ¥21 $176

Machinery and vehicles 0 47 4

Tools and fixtures 7 3 67

25. Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
Reclassification adjustment and deferred tax related to other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were 

as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities:

  Amount arising during the period ¥ 1,498 ¥(1,704) $ 13,359

  Reclassification adjustment (0) (341) (5)

    Pretax amount 1,498 (2,045) 13,353

    Tax effect (401) 558 (3,579)

  Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities ¥ 1,096 ¥(1,487) $   9,774

Deferred gain (loss) on hedges:

  Amount arising during the period ¥      16 ¥      72 $      144

  Reclassification adjustment (72) 54 (646)

    Pretax amount (56) 126 (501)

    Tax effect 13 (41) 122

  Deferred gain (loss) on hedges ¥     (42) ¥      85 $     (378)

Foreign currency translation adjustments:

  Amount arising during the period ¥(2,460) ¥(2,702) $(21,934)

  Reclassification adjustment 170 (7) 1,523

  Foreign currency translation adjustments ¥(2,290) ¥(2,710) $(20,410)

Adjustments to retirement benefits:

  Amount arising during the period ¥      91 ¥(3,314) $      817

  Reclassification adjustment 1,020 582 9,091

    Pretax amount 1,111 (2,732) 9,909

    Tax effect (470) 846 (4,194)

  Adjustments to retirement benefits ¥    641 ¥(1,886) $   5,714

Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates accounted for using the equity method:

  Amount arising during the period ¥   (399) ¥   (157) $  (3,560)

  Reclassification adjustment 4 — 41

  Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates accounted for using the equity method ¥   (394) ¥   (157) $  (3,518)

Total other comprehensive income ¥   (989) ¥(6,155) $  (8,819)
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26. Impairment losses

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as 

follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2017:
Not applicable

For the year ended March 31, 2016:
The Group categorizes property, plant and equipment and intangi-

ble assets into groups based on the business units for making 

investment decisions. However, goodwill of some overseas 

subsidiaries is grouped into the units used for an impairment test in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards or 

the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States 

(U.S. GAAP).

  The Group reviewed recoverability of investment in its ABH 

business based on the performance and future business plan. As a 

result, the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets of the ABH business was lower than their 

carrying amount. Accordingly, the Group reduced the carrying 

amount of the assets to their recoverable amount, and recognized 

the decreased amount of ¥450 million related to the ABH business 

as an impairment loss under extraordinary losses. The breakdown 

of the impairment loss of ¥450 million from the ABH business was 

“Buildings and structures” of ¥96 million, “Tools and fixtures” of 

¥18 million, “Goodwill” of ¥270 million, and other intangible assets 

of ¥64 million.

  The Group reviewed recoverability of investment in its Renece 

business (house-related business) based on the deteriorated 

market environment surrounding the business. As a result, the 

recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets of the Renece business was lower than their carrying 

amount. Accordingly, the Group reduced the carrying amount of 

the assets to their recoverable amount, and recognized the 

decreased amount of ¥89 million related to the Renece business 

as an impairment loss under extraordinary losses. The breakdown 

of the impairment loss of ¥89 million from the Renece business 

was “Buildings and structures” of ¥25 million, “Tools and fixtures” 

of ¥0 million, “Land” of ¥15 million, “Goodwill” of ¥5 million, and 

other intangible assets of ¥42 million.

  The recoverable amount of each business is measured based on 

respective value in use and net selling price, and calculated by 

discounting the future cash flows at a discount rate of 5.1%.
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27. Income taxes

(1) The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Deferred tax assets:

  Current assets

  Research and development ¥  590 ¥  1,767 $  5,262

  Accrued expenses 1,565 1,225 13,955

  Provision for losses on construction contracts 187 169 1,674

  Unrealized profit on inventories 145 241 1,296

  Other 943 1,154 8,407

  Subtotal 3,432 4,559 30,596

  Less: Valuation allowance (0) (53) (4)

  Offset against deferred tax liabilities (current) (3) (4) (29)

  Total deferred tax assets (current) ¥3,429 ¥  4,501 $30,563

  Non-current assets

  Liabilities for retirement benefits ¥5,740 ¥  6,521 $51,159

  Loss carried forward 1,514 2,075 13,501

  Unrealized gain on sales of property, plant and equipment 597 597 5,323

  Loss on valuation of investments in securities 970 446 8,653

  Excess depreciation 232 214 2,071

  Trademarks — 57 —

  Asset adjustment accounts — 32 —

  Other 469 842 4,188

  Subtotal 9,525 10,788 84,898

  Less: Valuation allowance (2,215) (2,187) (19,747)

  Offset against deferred tax liabilities (non-current) (2,444) (1,958) (21,790)

  Total deferred tax assets (non-current) ¥4,865 ¥  6,642 $43,360

Deferred tax liabilities:

  Current liabilities

  Other ¥     27 ¥         4 $     242

  Offset against deferred tax assets (current) (3) (4) (29)

  Total deferred tax liabilities (current) ¥     23 ¥       — $     213

  Non-current liabilities

  Net unrealized gain on assets of consolidated subsidiaries ¥   841 ¥  1,002 $  7,503

  Liabilities for retirement benefits 296 226 2,646

  Reserve for deferred gains on sales of property, plant and equipment 140 175 1,253

  Net unrealized gain on securities 1,729 1,327 15,412

  Other 55 275 496

  Offset against deferred tax assets (non-current) (2,444) (1,958) (21,790)

  Total deferred tax liabilities (non-current) ¥   619 ¥  1,048 $  5,521

Changes in method of presentation

“Asset retirement obligations” in non-current assets, which was 

previously presented separately as of March 31, 2016, is included 

in “Other” in non-current assets as of March 31, 2017, because its 

quantitative materiality decreased. The notes to consolidated finan-

cial statements as of March 31, 2016 are reclassified, reflecting 

the change in method of presentation. As a result, ¥101 million 

presented as “Asset retirement obligations” in non-current assets 

in the notes to consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 

2016 are reclassified to “Other” in non-current assets with ¥842 

million.
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(2) �Reconciliation of the difference between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the years 
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(%)

March 31 2017 2016

Statutory tax rate 30.8% —%

  Permanent difference arising from non-deductible expenses 0.8 —

  Taxation on per capita basis 0.4 —

  Increase in valuation allowance 0.5 —

  Tax rate difference applied to overseas subsidiaries 0.2 —

  Amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill 0.7 —

  Tax effects on retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries (0.1) —

  Adjustments to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities due to changes in tax rate (4.6) —

  Other 0.1 —

Effective tax rate 28.8% —%

[Note] �A reconciliation of the difference between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the year ended March 31, 2016 is omitted as the difference is 5% or 
below the statutory income tax rate.

28. Consolidated statements of cash flows
[Note 1] The components of cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Cash on hand and in banks ¥64,802 ¥49,187 $577,559

Time deposits with original maturities exceeding three months (11) (103) (103)

  Total ¥64,790 ¥49,084 $577,455

[Note 2] Details of important non-cash transactions 

The increase or decrease in Shareholders’ equity by exercising of stock acquisition rights related to convertible bonds with stock 

acquisition rights as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Increase in common stock ¥— ¥  6,992 $—

Increase in capital surplus — 7,455 —

Decrease in treasury stock — 621 —

Decrease in convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights — 15,069 —
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29. Stock options
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Not applicable

30. Related party transactions
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016:

  Not applicable

31. Segment information

(1) Overview of reportable segments
Reportable segments comprise components for which discrete 

financial information is available, and which the Board of Directors 

reviews regularly to determine the allocation of management 

resources and assess operating results.

  The Group manufactures and sells material handling systems, 

car wash machines, industrial personal computers, interface 

boards, and other equipment in Japan and overseas. Each 

company within the Group conducts manufacturing and sales 

activities based on its roles as an independent management unit.

  There are four reportable segments: Daifuku Co., Ltd., the core 

company dealing in material handling systems and equipment, and 

car wash machines; the Contec group (Contec Co., Ltd. and its 

subsidiaries), the core company engaging in the manufacture and 

sale of industrial personal computers, interface boards, and other 

equipment in Japan and overseas; the Daifuku North America 

group (Daifuku North America Holding Company and its subsidiar-

ies and affiliates); and Daifuku Plusmore Co., Ltd.

  In addition to the manufacture and sale of material handling 

systems and equipment, and car wash machines in Japan as the 

core company of the Group, Daifuku develops and supplies key 

components to companies around the world. Overseas subsidiar-

ies assemble material handling system components supplied by 

Daifuku with locally manufactured or purchased materials, sell the 

products and perform installation work as well as after-sales 

services. Daifuku North America Holding Company is a U.S. subsidiary 

that is responsible for key business activities, primarily in North 

America, with a significant volume of sales. It manufactures and 

sells leading airport baggage handling systems on its own as a part 

of its material handling systems. Daifuku Plusmore mainly sells car 

wash machines and bowling-related products and provides rental 

roll box pallets in Japan. It withdrew from sales of bowling-related 

products and the rental business of roll box pallets on April 1, 

2017.

(2) �Methods of calculating the amounts of net sales, income 
or loss, assets, liabilities and other items by reportable 
segments

The accounting methods of reported business segments are the 

same as those stated in Note 1 “Basis of presenting consolidated 

financial statements.” Intersegment sales or transfers are deter-

mined based on the prevailing market price.
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(3) �Information on net sales, income or loss, assets, liabilities and other items by reportable segments for the years ended 
March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Subtotal Other (*) Total

Net sales:

  Net sales to outside customers ¥145,860 ¥15,456 ¥79,063 ¥11,466 ¥251,846 ¥68,785 ¥320,632

  Intersegment sales or transfers 29,832 7,910 386 24 38,155 14,796 52,952

  Total 175,693 23,366 79,450 11,491 290,002 83,582 373,584

    Segment income 13,316 722 3,535 113 17,687 2,287 19,975

    Segment assets 203,208 19,818 53,760 3,807 280,595 66,581 347,177

    Segment liabilities 88,906 11,490 32,201 2,465 135,063 37,467 172,530

    Other

      Depreciation 2,439 277 724 48 3,489 712 4,202

      Amortization of goodwill 109 132 581 106 930 — 930

      Interest income 19 2 22 21 66 146 212

      Interest expenses 246 46 17 — 309 160 470

      Extraordinary income 450 27 238 2 719 16 735

        �Gain on sales of property,  
  plant and equipment 450 0 238 2 692 6 698

      Extraordinary loss 184 1 206 0 391 317 709

        �Loss on sales of property,  
  plant and equipment — — 7 — 7 178 186

        �Loss on disposal of property,  
  plant and equipment 85 1 0 0 87 7 94

        �Impairment loss — — — — — 105 105

        �Loss on liquidation of  
  subsidiaries and affiliates — — 198 — 198 — 198

    Income taxes 4,258 297 1,368 73 5,998 829 6,827

  �  Investments in equity-method  
  affiliates 5,193 — — — 5,193 166 5,359

  �  Increase in property, plant  
  �and equipment and intangible  
assets 3,243 337 1,144 3 4,729 1,176 5,905
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For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Subtotal Other (*) Total

Net sales:

  Net sales to outside customers ¥144,989 ¥15,155 ¥77,066 ¥12,284 ¥249,494 ¥  81,792 ¥331,287

  Intersegment sales or transfers 27,043 8,914 504 27 36,489 20,724 57,213

  Total 172,033 24,069 77,570 12,311 285,984 102,516 388,501

    Segment income 8,462 589 1,503 143 10,699 3,233 13,932

    Segment assets 190,882 19,048 51,692 4,816 266,439 73,375 339,815

    Segment liabilities 87,203 11,271 33,717 3,553 135,745 43,707 179,453

    Other

      Depreciation 2,498 275 825 55 3,655 937 4,593

      Amortization of goodwill 109 146 642 106 1,006 0 1,006

      Interest income 22 2 20 29 74 169 243

      Interest expenses 290 47 44 0 381 170 552

      Extraordinary income 186 341 194 — 722 2 725

        �Gain on sales of property,  
  plant and equipment 163 — 184 — 347 2 350

        �Gain on sales of investments  
  in securities 23 341 10 — 374 — 374

      Extraordinary loss 3,266 3 19 1 3,290 356 3,647

        �Loss on disposal of property,  
  plant and equipment 573 1 — 1 576 13 590

       � Loss on valuation of shares  
  in subsidiaries and affiliates 2,164 — — — 2,164 — 2,164

       � Special retirement benefits — — — — — 113 113

       � Environmental expenditures 528 — — — 528 — 528

    Income taxes 4,005 383 898 120 5,408 1,318 6,727

  �  Investments in equity-method  
  affiliates 5,193 — — — 5,193 208 5,401

  �  Increase in property, plant  
  �and equipment and intangible  
assets 2,709 242 678 50 3,680 529 4,210
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For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Subtotal Other (*) Total

Net sales:

  Net sales to outside customers $1,300,007 $137,754 $704,662 $102,197 $2,244,621 $613,065 $2,857,686

  Intersegment sales or transfers 265,889 70,507 3,449 222 340,068 131,874 471,943

  Total 1,565,896 208,261 708,111 102,420 2,584,689 744,939 3,329,629

    Segment income 118,686 6,440 31,509 1,008 157,645 20,391 178,037

    Segment assets 1,811,124 176,635 479,151 33,938 2,500,849 593,419 3,094,269

    Segment liabilities 792,390 102,408 286,997 21,974 1,203,771 333,934 1,537,706

    Other

      Depreciation 21,738 2,477 6,459 428 31,104 6,346 37,451

      Amortization of goodwill 979 1,181 5,181 952 8,295 — 8,295

      Interest income 169 22 202 194 588 1,307 1,895

      Interest expenses 2,194 411 155 — 2,760 1,428 4,189

      Extraordinary income 4,017 247 2,126 23 6,415 143 6,558

        �Gain on sales of property,  
  plant and equipment 4,017 0 2,126 23 6,169 55 6,224

      Extraordinary loss 1,643 11 1,836 2 3,493 2,826 6,319

        �Loss on sales of property,  
  plant and equipment — — 66 — 66 1,591 1,657

        �Loss on disposal of property,  
  plant and equipment 765 11 0 2 779 66 845

        �Impairment loss — — — — — 940 940

        �Loss on liquidation of  
  subsidiaries and affiliates — — 1,769 — 1,769 — 1,769

    Income taxes 37,952 2,652 12,198 655 53,458 7,391 60,850

  �  Investments in equity-method  
  affiliates 46,285 — — — 46,285 1,484 47,770

  �  Increase in property, plant  
  �and equipment and intangible  
assets 28,911 3,003 10,202 31 42,149 10,484 52,634

(*) “Other” represents an operating segment comprising domestic and overseas subsidiaries that are not included in reportable segments.

(4) �Differences between the total amount of reportable segments and the reported amount in the consolidated financial 
statements and details of the main items of the differences (matters relating to difference reconciliation)

(a) Net sales

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Reportable segments total ¥290,002 ¥285,984 $2,584,689

Net sales classified in “Other” 83,582 102,516 744,939

Elimination of intersegment transactions (52,952) (57,213) (471,943)

Consolidation adjustments to net sales under the percentage-of-completion method 1,131 5,078 10,081

Other adjustments for consolidation (938) (182) (8,361)

Net sales in consolidated financial statements ¥320,825 ¥336,184 $2,859,407
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(b) Segment income

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Reportable segments total ¥17,687 ¥10,699 $157,645

Segment income classified in “Other” 2,287 3,233 20,391

Elimination of cash dividends from affiliates (3,112) (2,010) (27,741)

Other adjustments for consolidation (116) 1,729 (1,037)

Net income attributable to shareholders of the parent company  
  in consolidated financial statements ¥16,746 ¥13,652 $149,258

(c) Segment assets

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Reportable segments total ¥280,595 ¥266,439 $2,500,849

Segment assets classified in “Other” 66,581 73,375 593,419

Elimination of investment securities in subsidiaries in consolidation process (34,379) (32,022) (306,415)

Elimination of intercompany receivables (21,736) (22,675) (193,729)

Other adjustments for consolidation 12,479 10,938 111,224

Total assets in consolidated financial statements ¥303,540 ¥296,055 $2,705,348

(d) Segment liabilities

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Reportable segments total ¥135,063 ¥135,745 $1,203,771

Segment liabilities classified in “Other” 37,467 43,707 333,934

Elimination of intercompany payables (21,736) (22,675) (193,729)

Other adjustments for consolidation 10,405 9,161 92,737

Total liabilities in consolidated financial statements ¥161,199 ¥165,938 $1,436,713

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Other items
Reportable 

segments total Other Adjustments Consolidated total

Depreciation ¥3,489 ¥   712 ¥     — ¥4,202

Amortization of goodwill 930 — (6) 924

Interest income 66 146 (54) 158

Amortization of negative goodwill — — 59 59

Interest expenses 309 160 (54) 415

Gain (loss) on investments accounted for under equity method — — 567 567

Extraordinary income 719 16 (203) 532

  Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment 692 6 (203) 494

Extraordinary loss 391 317 (358) 350

  Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment 7 178 (157) 28

  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 87 7 — 94

  Impairment loss — 105 (105) —

  Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates 198 — — 198

Income taxes 5,998 829 79 6,906

Investments in equity-method affiliates 5,193 166 1,508 6,868

Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 4,729 1,176 — 5,905
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For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Other items
Reportable 

segments total Other Adjustments Consolidated total

Depreciation ¥3,655 ¥   937 ¥     (5) ¥4,587

Amortization of goodwill 1,006 0 31 1,038

Interest income 74 169 (53) 189

Amortization of negative goodwill — — 59 59

Interest expenses 381 170 (53) 498

Gain (loss) on investments accounted for under equity method — — 503 503

Extraordinary income 722 2 (182) 542

  Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment 347 2 (182) 168

  Gain on sales of investments in securities 374 — — 374

Extraordinary loss 3,290 356 (1,759) 1,888

  Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment 19 35 21 76

  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 576 13 — 590

  Impairment loss — — 540 540

  Loss on valuation of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates 2,164 — (2,164) —

  Special retirement benefits — 113 — 113

  Environmental expenditures 528 — — 528

Income taxes 5,408 1,318 (13) 6,713

Investments in equity-method affiliates 5,193 208 1,298 6,699

Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3,680 529 — 4,210

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Other items
Reportable 

segments total Other Adjustments Consolidated total

Depreciation $31,104 $  6,346 $       — $37,451

Amortization of goodwill 8,295 — (57) 8,237

Interest income 588 1,307 (485) 1,409

Amortization of negative goodwill — — 534 534

Interest expenses 2,760 1,428 (485) 3,703

Gain (loss) on investments accounted for under equity method — — 5,059 5,059

Extraordinary income 6,415 143 (1,813) 4,744

  Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment 6,169 55 (1,813) 4,411

Extraordinary loss 3,493 2,826 (3,195) 3,124

  Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment 66 1,591 (1,407) 249

  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 779 66 — 845

  Impairment loss — 940 (940) —

  Loss on valuation of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates 1,769 — — 1,769

Income taxes 53,458 7,391 707 61,557

Investments in equity-method affiliates 46,285 1,484 13,447 61,217

Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 42,149 10,484 — 52,634

[Note] �The main items in Adjustments above are as follows: 
1. �Adjustments of ¥2,164 million in “Loss on valuation of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates” for the year ended March 31, 2016 is mainly due to elimination in consolidated finan-

cial statements.
 �2. �Adjustments of ¥1,508 million ($13,447 thousand) and ¥1,298 million in “Investments in equity-method affiliates” for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are 

mainly due to foreign currency translation adjustments included in shares in affiliates.
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[Related information]
1. Information by product and service

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Logistics systems Electronics Other Consolidated total

Net sales to outside customers ¥288,408 ¥15,427 ¥16,989 ¥320,825

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Logistics systems Electronics Other Consolidated total

Net sales to outside customers ¥301,736 ¥15,154 ¥19,293 ¥336,184

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Logistics systems Electronics Other Consolidated total

Net sales to outside customers $2,570,482 $137,501 $151,423 $2,859,407

2. Information by geographic area

(1) Net sales

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Japan U.S.A. China S. Korea Other Consolidated total

Net sales to outside customers ¥110,678 ¥71,470 ¥36,863 ¥32,275 ¥69,537 ¥320,825

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Japan U.S.A. China S. Korea Other Consolidated total

Net sales to outside customers ¥114,217 ¥75,501 ¥39,589 ¥34,457 ¥72,418 ¥336,184

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Japan U.S.A. China S. Korea Other Consolidated total

Net sales to outside customers $986,439 $636,994 $328,547 $287,661 $619,763 $2,859,407

[Note] Net sales are classified by country or area where customers are located.

(2) Property, plant and equipment

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Japan U.S.A. Other Consolidated total

Property, plant and equipment ¥23,938 ¥3,814 ¥5,833 ¥33,586

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Japan U.S.A. Other Consolidated total

Property, plant and equipment ¥23,927 ¥3,287 ¥5,666 ¥32,881

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Japan U.S.A. Other Consolidated total

Property, plant and equipment $213,354 $33,998 $51,988 $299,341
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3. Information by customer

It is omitted because no single outside customer represents 10% or more of the net sales reported in the consolidated statements of 

income and comprehensive income.

[Information about impairment loss of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets by reportable segment]
For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Total Other
Elimination 

or corporate
Consolidated 

total

Impairment loss ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥105 ¥(105) ¥—

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Total Other
Elimination 

or corporate
Consolidated 

total

Impairment loss ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥540 ¥540

For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Total Other
Elimination 

or corporate
Consolidated 

total

Impairment loss $— $— $— $— $— $940 $(940) $—

[Information about the amount of amortization and unamortized balance of goodwill and negative goodwill by reportable 
segment]
For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(Million yen)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Total Other
Elimination 

or corporate
Consolidated 

total

Ending balance of  
  goodwill ¥320 ¥1,553 ¥4,951 ¥400 ¥7,226 ¥514 ¥2,141 ¥9,882

Ending balance of  
  negative goodwill ¥  — ¥     — ¥     — ¥  — ¥     — ¥  — ¥     59 ¥     59

For the year ended March 31, 2016: 

(Million yen)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Total Other
Elimination 

or corporate
Consolidated 

total

Ending balance of  
  goodwill ¥430 ¥1,752 ¥5,762 ¥507 ¥8,453 ¥649 ¥2,078 ¥11,181

Ending balance of  
  negative goodwill ¥  — ¥     — ¥     — ¥  — ¥     — ¥  — ¥   119 ¥     119

41DAIFUKU CO., LTD.  ANNUAL REPORT 2017



For the year ended March 31, 2017: 

(U.S. thousand dollars)

Reportable segments

Daifuku Contec
Daifuku 

North America
Daifuku 

Plusmore Total Other
Elimination 

or corporate
Consolidated 

total

Ending balance of  
  goodwill $2,858 $13,841 $44,134 $3,572 $64,407 $4,586 $19,085 $88,078

Ending balance of  
  negative goodwill $     — $       — $       — $     — $       — $     — $     534 $     534

[Note] Information about amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill is omitted because such information is disclosed in segment information.

[Information about gain on new negative goodwill by reportable segment]
Not applicable

32. Per share information
The amounts of basic and diluted net income per share and net assets per share for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

(Yen) (U.S. dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Net assets per share ¥1,142.14 ¥1,044.40 $10.17

Net income per share

—Basic 137.58 118.72 1.22

Diluted net income per share — 112.14 —

[Note 1] �The shares of Daifuku remaining in the employee shareholding incentive plan through a trust (E-Ship), which are recorded as treasury stock under equity capital, are included in 
the treasury stock to be deducted in the calculation of the average number of shares during the year for the purpose of calculation of net income per share, and are also includ-
ed in the number of treasury stock to be deducted from the aggregate number of issued shares as of the end of the year for the purpose of calculation of net assets per share. 
The average number of shares of treasury stock deducted during the year for the purpose of calculation of net income per share is 191,000 shares for the year ended March 31, 
2016 and 57,000 shares for the year ended March 31, 2017. The Company’s employee shareholding incentive plan through the E-Ship Trust ended in December 2016.

[Note 2] �The shares of Daifuku remaining in the Board Benefit Trust, which are recorded as treasury stock under equity capital, are included in the treasury stock to be deducted in the 
calculation of the average number of shares during the year for the purpose of calculation of net income per share, and are also included in the number of treasury stock to be 
deducted from the aggregate number of issued shares as of the end of the year for the purpose of calculation of net assets per share. The average number of shares of treasury 
stock deducted during the year for the purpose of calculation of net income per share is 60,000 shares for the year ended March 31, 2017. The number of shares of treasury 
stock deducted as of the end of the year for calculation of net assets per share is 90,000 shares for the year ended March 31, 2017.

[Note 3] �The basis for the calculation of net income per share and diluted net income per share for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Net income per share

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Net income attributable to shareholders of the parent company ¥16,746 ¥13,652 $149,258

Amount not attributable to holders of common stock — — —

Net income attributable to shareholders of the parent company ¥16,746 ¥13,652 $149,258

(Thousand shares)

2017 2016

Weighted average number of common stock issued and outstanding during the year 121,726 114,994
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Diluted net income per share

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Adjustments to net income attributable to shareholders of the parent company ¥— ¥(16) $—

Of which: amortization of bond issue premium (net of tax effect)* ¥— ¥(16) $—

*1 �Diluted net income per share is not shown herein as dilutive shares did not exist during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017.
*2 The amortization of the premium in the year ended of March 31, 2016, due to the issuance of bonds at a higher price than the face value (net of tax effect).

(Thousand shares)

March 31 2017 2016

Effect of dilutive securities — 6,600

Of which: convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights — 6,600

[Note 3] The basis for the calculation of net assets per share as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

(Million yen)
(U.S. thousand 

dollars)

March 31 2017 2016 2017

Total net assets ¥142,340 ¥130,116 $1,268,634

Amount deducted from total net assets 3,247 3,063 28,947

Of which: non-controlling interests 3,247 3,063 28,947

  Total net assets attributable to common stock ¥139,092 ¥127,052 $1,239,686

(Thousand shares)

March 31 2017 2016

Number of common stock issued and outstanding at fiscal year-end  
  for the purpose of calculation of net assets per share 121,782 121,651

33. Subsequent events
Not applicable
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